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Introduction

This is the story of Holly Springs, a 200-year-old community with a name which
brings to mind pictures of bubbling, fresh water and trees with shiny green leaves and
red berries. Stories of springs and holly trees are imbedded in the earliest history of
the community. Such nostalgic mental pictures have led the Town of Holly Springs, in
recent years, to adopt a holly branch as its logo. Many of the holly trees, described by
historians explaining the town’s name, have disappeared from the area over the years.
Some of the springs still flow. The community itself is alive and well and flourishing
as never before.

Holly Springs has a rich history, marked by periods of vitality and prosperity,
interspersed with economic recessions, usually brought on by wars. As it enters the
21st century, the town is riding the crest of yet another wave of prosperity, this one the
grandest ever, marked by an increase in population from less than 1,000 in 1990 to
more than 9,000 in 2000.

Holly Springs was a bustling village, although not yet an incorporated town,
long before the Civil War. After the war, it was devastated. Rebuilding began in the
late 1800s under the leadership of an energetic entrepreneur named George Benton
Alford, who, among other accomplishments, got the General Assembly to grant the
little town a charter of incorporation in 1876. General Assembly ratification of the
town’s incorporation papers followed on Jan. 26, 1877. The town’s original
boundaries made one perfect square mile.

One-Mile-Square
The map below is from 1972 and clearly shows the original one-mile-square boundaries of the
Town of Holly Springs. Aside from the notch at the top, which resulted from an annexation
sometime before 1972, this was the boundary of the Town of Holly Springs for 110 years, from
1877 to 1987.

HOLLY SPRINGS:
. POP. 697



In the early 1900s, Holly Springs outgrew its neighbors, Apex and Sippihaw (a
community later called Fuquay Springs, and then finally Fuquay-Varina). A lively
business and industrial community developed, enhanced by the arrival of a railroad.
The town had several churches and schools so well-known for their excellence, some
families moved to the area so their children could take advantage of the educational
opportunities. Others sent children to board in Holly Springs homes and attend the
local school.

Then came World War I. Men went off to fight or to work in war-related
industries. Young people moved away to cities where opportunities were greater. Holly
Springs’ prosperity waned.

Between the two World Wars, the town made something of a comeback. Its
school, by that time a public school, continued to flourish. But Col. Alford died in
1923, leaving the town without effective leadership. In 1924, the Bank of Holly
Springs failed, the first bank in North Carolina to do so before the great Depression of
1929.

The Depression, followed by a second World War, which again drew people away
to more urban areas, left Holly Springs without the young people, the business and
industry or the money to get moving again. For a good 20 years, the sleepy little town
of 500 to 600 residents sat, barely noticed, tucked in a comer of the state’s capital
county. It began to show signs of awakening in the 1960s under the leadership of
Mayor I. M. Gattman (1945-1949 and 1961-1969), a transplanted Yankee who had
married a Holly Springs girl. As mayor in the 1960s, Gattman began efforts to get
street lights installed, to improve the town’s appearance and to attempt to entice
industry into the town. He made some progress. Street improvements and shrubbery
planting led to the town’s being awarded first place in a competition sponsored by the
Wake County Community Development Association in 1965. Still, as late as 1966, a
headline in a Raleigh newspaper referred to Holly Springs as a “Poverty pocket in
wealthy Wake (County).”

A public water system was finally established in 1968, but it was not until 1985
when the town’s first sewer plant was built that Holly Springs’ star again began to rise.
Once the town had full utility services to offer, industrial, business and residential
developers began to show an interest. The decision of Warp Technologies, a new
polyester-thread-producing company, to locate in Holly Springs doubled the town’s tax
base from $8 million to $16 million in one year.

Increased tax revenues enabled the town to beef up its utility systems to
accommodate its next big newcomer, Sunset Ridge, a multi-million dollar, upscale
residential community with golf course. Sunset Ridge began with about 500 acres and
has grown to more than 700 acres and is still developing.

Those two arrivals set in motion a growth pattern which has steadily
accelerated. By the early 1990s, Holly Springs had begun receiving the overflow
population from booming Cary and Apex. Folks seeking a more rural way of life and
somewhat lower home prices found Holly Springs. Developers saw them coming and
readied residential offerings ranging from starter homes to executive styles.

Today, Holly Springs’ municipal leaders are planning for enlarged sewer and
water capacities, courting business and industry in order to create a more balanced
tax base and, at the same time, promoting plans for a new town center, designed with
a village theme and planned to include a historic park centered around the Leslie-
Alford-Mims house, an imposing residence which has played an important role in the
town’s history for 150-plus years.

Town fathers have said they would like to see the population held to between



25,000 and 50,000. The census conducted in 2000 placed the then population at

9,192. Projections — based on the past five-year trends — have the numbers reaching

12,000 by the end of this 125t anniversary year of 2002 and 20,450 by the year 2010.
— Shirley Hayes and Joni Powell

In the Beginning — The Town Charter
Below is a copy of the 13-line original town charter, ratified by the General Assembly on Jan. 26,
1877.

TOWN OF: HOLLY SPRINGS
. MAYOR'S OFFICE
- HOLLY SPRINGE, N. €

el

An Act te ‘rn'cu&rpﬁ*mtg: the tewn of VWolly Sprirgs in the county of rake.
Laws of 1876~ Chapter LV.=-"# 53. ' 1

Section 1. The tiereral Assmmbly of North Caro]ina, de enact,

That the tewn of Holly “peinps, in the County of Wakd. be, and the
sare is herehv ‘incorporated by the nare and style of —thg town of "Gllq
§§¥1ngs, and he subject to all the provisinns centiined in fharter Twrﬁf
of Rattle's . ;*evi sal and the act amrndinﬂ qaid chanter. : l
ectinn 2. That the cnrvarate limits of said town shall be as follan
neginning at a peint 227 Fods South o5l er J.V.Gondwin's reSidence,-
Thence running North 320 Rods,~ Thenée ?aaz 320 pods,~ Thence South !
220 1ods,~ Thence 'fest. BE0 Yods to the First station. 7 :
Segtien 3. This act s:w.ll he in force from and after its mtificationw '

2.
A

Patified the 24th  dav of Japuary A.D. 1877
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By Shirley Hayes & Joni Powell
With the Assistance of Town Historian Mrs. Mary Lee Johnson

Springs of fresh water, made particularly attractive by the abundance of
holly trees around them, drew travelers to the southwest corner of what is now
Wake County during Colonial times, long before “the community of Holly
Springs” evolved and appropriated its name from the pleasant watering spot.

Historians have determined that Tuscarora Indians inhabited the area
prior to the arrival of the colonists from Europe. Artifacts found throughout
Wake County support that claim. An English adventurer and explorer, John
Lawson, who traveled into the interior of the Carolina woodlands in 1701, kept
a journal which is believed to be the first written record still existing of any
Englishman’s entering the area that is now Wake County. He wrote of woods,
rivers, waterfalls and Indians, some friendly, others not.

It was nearly four decades from the time of Lawson’s visit before the first
settlers from other parts of the Colonies took up land in the wilderness that
eventually became Wake County. Some obtained land grants from the state,
purchasing previously un- owned land for pennies an acre.

Fred Burt of the Wilbon community -- which has a Holly Springs
address -- still lives on a 300-acre tract of land which is a portion of a land
grant of several thousand acres purchased by his ancestors in the 1700s. The
Burt name recurs throughout Holly Springs history. So do names from the
family of former mayor, Gerald Holleman (1983-2001), whose Partin ancestors
also had a land grant. And there are Joneses in Holly Springs history, many
descendants of Ethelred Jones, whose land grant included much of Middle
Creek Township and portions of what is now Holly Springs Township.

Before she died in 2001, Joanna Proctor, who lived on Sunset Lake Road
on a portion of her ancestor Ethelred Jones’s original land grant, still had
documents showing that he paid 50 cents per acre for some of the land.



Chapter 1

far/ze&t Eﬁamzf Wc’mea‘

In Elizabeth Reid Murray’s book WAKE: Capital County of North Carolina, she
states that a number of Wake communities today carry the names of 18th century
settlers. In the Holly Springs-Buckhorn area, she notes the family names of Burt,
Holleman and Holland, who settled in the area in the 1770s. The post office at
Holleman’s Crossroads was officially Collins for a time, reflecting the name of another
early settler, she writes. Other histories of the area mention Arthur Branch and
Stephen Pearson as landowners prior to 1800.

Norris is another name known to date to the 1700s in the Holly Springs area.
A memorial marker which stands about eight feet off Avent Ferry Road (historically
called, “Avent’s Ferry Road”) 2.4 miles southwest of the Holly Springs fire department
building commemorates a soldier of the Revolution who was born in 1750 and died in
1822. A news story printed in The Fuquay-Varina Independent in 1990 states that
little is known about John Norris, Jr. except that he was probably one of the first
English settlers of property near the Holleman’s Crossroads area. The memorial stone
was placed in 1935 by the Daughters of the American Revolution and is located in the
easement on the west side of the roadway.

Norris is said to be buried in a family cemetery somewhere in the vicinity of
where the marker stands, according to the newspaper account.

Ms. Murray also suggests that some residents of what is now southwest Wake
County were probably among the signers of one of the petitions filed in 1770 urging
“His Excellency William Tryon Esquier, (sic) Captain General and Governor in Chief in
and over the privence (sic) of North Carolina ...” and the assembly to create a new,
smaller county out of the oversized county of Orange to relieve these residents of the
hardship of having to travel to the Orange County seat of “Hillsburrah” for attending
“General musters, Elections of Burgesses and vesterymen (sic) and at Courts as
witnesses and jurymen.”

Many had to travel as often as four times a year “vast Distance” from their homes
to the Orange County seat of “Hillsburrah” for these purposes. Inadequate roads and
the difficulty of crossing “many Large Water Courses” not only put them to “very
Considerable hardships and Inconvences” (sic) but also often made them “Subject to
have fines and forfitudes (sic) for not attending the required military, voting and court
duties.”

The petition cited by Murray gives no addresses for the signers but carries some
last names not uncommon in the history of the Holly Springs area -- names such as
Joseph Avent, Oliver Brewer, Sion Rogors, and Jacob and Isam Rogors.

The petitioners were successful and Wake County was created from parts of
Orange, Cumberland and Johnston effective March 12, 1771.



Early Map, 1887
Ten years after Holly Springs was incorporated, a portion of a survey map of Wake County
titled, “Shaffer's Map of Wake County N.C. 1887" shows the rather large community of Holly
Springs surrounded by roads and creeks with names connected to early families.
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'ﬂl ngt‘me& came before the Gouncil to putin a claim of $375.00 for
t[kmtge& to his property [7:}/ ﬁdzc'yﬁ;w{}/ W«:. 55. The ﬁoarc[ took no action as

/eé'y/fWay is not yet comJofetle ”
— Dec. 7, 1936 Holly Springs Town Board Minutes Excerpt

Chapter 2
71%/{}/ Cgfﬁnjé‘ ’og(zgz'nnz'njs

Probably the first signs of a community in the vicinity of what is now Holly
Springs developed on or near the Arthur Branch and Walter Collins properties located
about two miles southwest of the present town, near the intersection of Avent’s Ferry
Road and Cass Holt Road (once called Rollins Mill Road). One of the earliest school
houses in the area was probably a log one referred to on surveys of the Branch
property and reported as having been used by a traveling Baptist evangelist to found a
church.

The late Hubert Collins, a native of southwest Wake County and a descendant of
the Branch and Collins families, drew a map in 1977 on which he located the site of
the first Baptist church, the site of what he believed to be the original Holly Springs,
also a sawmill and a cotton gin, a store and other landmarks which would indicate a
small community centered near Avent’s Ferry and Rollins Mill Roads.

In a letter to Wake County historian Carl Holleman of Apex in 1977, Collins
wrote: “In 1896 there were two very large holly trees about 40 feet high and 30 feet
apart, with the closest tree about 25 feet from the spring shown on the enclosed
sketch. (The sketch shows the spring near Avent’s Ferry Road and Rollins Mill Road --
today the intersection of Avent Ferry Road and Cass Holt Road.) They were the most
beautiful holly trees [ have ever seen in North Carolina or any other place. As a child,
I was told that this spring was near the site where the first Holly Springs Baptist
Church was built.”

According to J. D. Marcom’s history of the Holly Springs Baptist Church, the
evangelist who organized the church in the log school, along with the Rev. Isaac Hicks
and the Rev. Nathan Gulley, founded a Baptist Church that was active from 1810 to
1815 but then, for some reason not known, disbanded. A history of the present Holly
Springs Baptist Church, compiled in 1997, suggests that the earlier church “may have
been (founded) in the latter part of 1799,” and gives its location as “300 yards
southwest of the intersection of Rollins Mill Road and Avent Ferry Road.”

The more recent history of the church is also a bit more specific about why the
original one disbanded. “It seems that several members became indulged in things of
this world and became unfaithful to the church (so) it died,” states the writer. The late
Carl Holleman, an Apex attorney and historian, in a column that appeared in a 1979
edition of The Fuquay-Varina Independent, told of having talked with two elderly
gentlemen with memories of the early church. Bennett and Alsy Holland, one born in
1799 and the other in 1801, told Holleman they had attended meetings in that first
Baptist church and that their father, David Holland, was clerk of the church. They
said Isaac Hicks was pastor most of the time and Nathan Gully for a short time.



Holleman notes that “drinking and other sinful habits” engaged in by some members
led the church to disband. He also acknowledges “with some embarrassment” kinship
to some of those wayward members of that early church.

The Holly Springs Baptist Church history (1997) also states that the original
Baptist Church was one of the first four churches to join the Raleigh Baptist
Association in 1805. The association has little information about that first Baptist
Church in Holly Springs but reports that it disbanded in 1815.

It was about 1800, or soon thereafter, that the first signs of a budding
community began to emerge at the point where two important roads crossed, one
running from Hillsborough to Smithfield, the other from Raleigh in a southerly
direction to the Cape Fear River, crossing the river at a point later known as Avent’s
Ferry and winding its way on to Fayetteville. That crossroads, about two miles north
of the original community, became the nucleus of the town that is today Holly Springs.

The crossroads village -- which happened to be near other springs on what is now
the Edwin Mims / Jim Wright property -- apparently got its commercial start when
Richard Jones settled in the area shortly after 1800 and built a store. He is the first
person known to have settled at the crossroads near the springs, according to a
history of Holly Springs compiled in 1966 by Brooks Sanders, titled “Metamorphosis”
and published in The Fuquay-Varina Independent. Moses N. Amis, writer of Historical
Raleigh with Sketches of Wake County and Its Important Towns, states that Jones
settled near the church, probably referring to the Baptist Church formed in 1822,
although some histories would indicate his arrival was several years earlier. Dan
Turner, in a history of the Leslie/Alford/ Mims house prepared for the Wake County
Historic Preservation Commission, reports that a Scottish tailor, Archibald Leslie,
opened a tailoring business and a store in the Holly Springs community around 1817.
He is believed to have arrived after Jones.

According to Turner, Leslie married Isabelle Rogers, the daughter of a prominent
local family. It is believed to have been about 1840 that Leslie began work on a large,
impressive home near the springs at the crossroads. The house was built on a
180-acre tract. A newspaper story published in The News and Observer in 1949 and
based on an interview with Delcie Mims, lady of the house at that time, states that the
house, originally called Leslie Hall, was built by Leslie as a gift for his bride. The
newspaper account describes the fine construction of the house and states that slaves
carved the pine mantelpieces. According to Turner, at the time the house was built,
other structures on the property included a detached kitchen, slave quarters, a
harness and carriage house, a barn, a wash-smokehouse, the original Leslie store
building, a turpentine distillery and a dovecote.

Although it has changed ownership and undergone numerous additions through
the years, the house still stands at the heart of the Holly Springs community. It is
listed on the National Register of Historic Places as the Leslie-Alford-Mims house.



Historic Local Buildings ) _
Reprinted from “A Selected Guide to the Historic _/-\rc_hitecture_ of Wake _County, published IIloy
the Wake County Historic Preservation Commission in 1998 is a page illustrating three well-
known Holly Springs landmarks.

19. Holly Springs

(p-3 60)

The location of Holly Springs at the
intersection of two important trade
roads made it an important stopping
place for merchants, farmers and
travelers throughout the ninetsenth
century.

The antebellum prosperity of Holly
Springs is reflected in a distinetive
landmark and a prominent example

. s of Greek Revival architecture in Wake
Leslie-Alford-Mims House County, the Leslie-Alford-Mims
House {100 Avent Ferry Road; NR;
LM). The main block of the house
dates to the 1840s and was built for
Archibald Leslic. Later additions,
including the side wings, third story
addition and widows walk, were
completed by Confederate veteran
and merchant Col. G. B, Alford.
Adjacent to the house is a monument
to the Twenty-sixth Regiment, North
Carolina Troops erected in 1923. By
far the oldest lodge and sehool
building in Wake County, the Holly
Springs Masonic Lodge (127
Raleigh Strect; SLY was built in 1854
Holly Springs Masonic Lodge and beginning in 1856 was used as a
school for girls. In 1892 the Masons
assumed control of the school, which
operated until 1908. The building
still serves as a Masonic fodge.

The Seagraves Drugstore (110
Ballentine 3(.) exemplifies the solid
simplicity of commercial architecture
that proliferated in small towns across
the county in the early twenticth
century.

Seagraves Drugstore
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As the focus of development shifts from the intersection of Avent’s Ferry and
Rollin Mill Roads, there arises the question of the town’s name. Which community
used it first? In Marcom’s history of the Baptist Church, he suggests that the original
church was named Holly Springs Baptist Church because its first meeting house was
“hard by a bold spring surrounded by a group of holly trees...” Marcom continues,
“The village that grew up around the church was incorporated as the Town of Holly
Springs...,” suggesting that the church used the name Holly Springs first. The original
church had disbanded, however, when development began at the crossroads.

Property Owners Signafures
Dedicating Raleigh Syreat

To the Town of Holly Springs, o 1B The Beginnings

G Mo g ‘ of Raleigh Street
In 1948, property owners
along Raleigh Street dedi-
cated a public easement
for the roadway. A map
illustrating the names and
signatures of those
owners is below. Note
that the bearing of the
map is South, rather than
North. Holly Springs
Road today is what is
labeled “Rhamkatte
Road” on the map.

11



ﬂ”'ﬁ % mjn was to be made ﬁ:}/ ﬂ; gfrz'ce and putin Jaface b:}/ <7IZ:~ ﬁfew'n&

J/fow‘z'nj to the Jauﬁfz’c that the 9t. to the spring is closed.”
—July 11, 1938 Holly Springs Town Board Minutes Excerpt

Chapter 3

far j ﬁuence& - azjl&ona‘ and ﬁcgotwta‘

As the Vlllage of Holly Springs began to take shape, the Baptists were once again a
part of the early story, along with the Masons. Both groups had made early efforts to
organize in southwest Wake County, had faltered for one reason or another, then made
a comeback.

After their original church disbanded, the Baptists came into the newly developing
community of Holly Springs at the crossroads in1822 to build a new church on four
acres of land donated by Woodson Clements and located “one and a half miles
northeast of the original site on the highway leading to Raleigh,” according to a 1997
history of the Baptist Church. Clements, described as one of the best businessmen of
his day and a one-time sheriff of Wake County, reportedly specified in the deed that the
property was “...to be used for church purposes so long as there was one grain of sand
on the hill, but not to be used as a burial ground.” The property he gave the Baptists
was located just west of the Leslie-Alford-Mims house on what was then Fish Dam
Road.

The first Masonic Lodge in southwest Wake County, known as the Western Sun
Masonic Lodge Number 72, existed for about 10 years, roughly from 1818 till 1828.
Murray’s history of Wake County states that fire destroyed the building of the Western
Sun Lodge and that it was not until 1851 that the local Masons acquired a charter for
Holly Springs Lodge No. 115. The Lodge’s own history, compiled by Bob Dixon in 1998,
states that the present lodge obtained its charter on Dec. 10, 1847. Dixon also notes
that several members of the old Western Sun Lodge were also charter members of
Lodge 115.

Joshua Rogers was one of them. The minutes of the first meeting of Lodge 115
state that, “The petition of Brother Joshua Rogers was presented, stating that he had
served some time as an entered apprentice in the Western Sun Lodge Number 72,
Wake County, as praying to be further advanced in Masonry by being passed to that of
a Fellow Craft if found worthy.” He was granted his request.

No writers of history of the area seem to have determined the location of the home
of the Western Sun Lodge which is reported to have burned, although Hubert Collins, a
native of Holly Springs and a historian, in a letter to Carl Holleman, suggested that it
was probably located north and east of Holly Springs. (He based his conclusion on
having identified the residences on a map of most of the charter members of Lodge No.
115. He believed these members had also been affiliated with Lodge No. 72). In an
interview before he passed away, lifelong Holly Springs resident Edwin Mims recalled,
however, that Collins (his uncle) once suggested to him that the Western Sun Lodge
might have met upstairs in the Leslie store building, which is known to have burned.

Mims said Collins told him of a cornerstone from the burned building with a date

12



chiseled on it. Mims speculated that a store building would not have a marked
cornerstone, but a Lodge building probably would. Mims saw logic in a Masonic Lodge,
a secret organization, meeting in an upstairs room away from the public eye.

Further support for the contention that the first lodge may have shared space in
the Leslie store can be found in Kelly Lally’s book, Architecture of Wake County N. C.,
in which she has identified a photograph of the Leslie store building as the “Leslie/
Lodge building.”

13



Chapter 4

j‘zcc;re ogum'ne&fe& and a Cgc/;oo/

By 1860, the village of Holly Springs consisted of five stores, a Baptist
church and a Masonic lodge, all surrounded by a community of prosperous
farmers, some of whom owned slaves. A writer in Historical Raleigh gives the
names of two of the store owners as Young Booker and Paschat Booker.

Also in the years preceding the Civil War, the community established its
first truly organized school. The Holly Springs Academy was founded in 1854.
Sanders, writing his history in 1966, states: “The movement for a school had
begun a year earlier when the Raleigh Baptist Association had decided that a
good high school was necessary to supply Wake Forest College with qualified
students. The Association canvassed the seven counties in its district to find
the best school site, and Holly Springs was chosen. The Masons and the
townspeople were the main forces behind the establishment of the academy.
The original board of trustees included: James Adams, Green Beckwith, Enoch
Booker, Bennett Holland, James Rogers, Gaston Utley and the officers of the
Raleigh Baptist Association. (The Raleigh Courier Journal).

“To accommodate the large number of boarding students, a dormitory was
built and equipped, and students began coming to the academy from all parts of
the state. The dormitory was destroyed by fire soon after its opening, however.
The students, all boys, were then housed in private homes.

“The first principal was Minton Y. Chappell. One year later, he was
succeeded by Albert H. Dowell, a graduate of Randolph Macon College, who
headed the Academy until its closing at the start of the War Between the States.
(The Raleigh Courier Journal).”

Soon after the founding of the all-male academy, the women of the Holly
Springs community demanded a school for their daughters. Miss Nancy Turner
opened a school for girls in 1856 on the first floor of the Masonic Lodge.
According to lodge history, the building had been completed in 1853.

It was also in the years just preceding the Civil War that the Holly Springs
Methodist Church was formed. The effort to start the new church was led by
two men, Alvin Cross and William Wheeler. For a time, meetings were held in
private homes, but the growing congregation soon needed a permanent place of
worship, so the church made plans to purchase the old Holly Springs Academy
building located on the hill bordering the present Holly Springs Cemetery. The
purchase was accomplished in1860.

The first minister was B. B. Culbreth, who was, at the time, pastor of the
Cokesbury Charge. In 1869, a steeple and narthex were added to the building
and later two class rooms.

And so in the years leading up to the Civil War, the crossroads community
of Holly Springs was enjoying prosperity. Its stores, schools, churches and the
Masonic Lodge were surrounded by prosperous farmers with names such as
Adams, Betts, Beckwith, Booth, Booker, Brown, Clements, Dupree, Hunter,
Jones, Marcom, Norris, Olive, Rogers, Turner and Utley. (from Raleigh Courier

14



Journal). Then came the war and the picture changed.

Y
From the 1915-1916 "Catalogue of Holly Springs Public High School”

The Wonian'z Betterment Asserintion

Woman’s School Betterment Association
OFFICERS

MRS, J. R. CARTER, President. MISS PASSIE WOOD, Secretary.
MISS PAULINE HOLT, Vice-President. MRS. W. A, SEGRAVES, Treasurer. -

Since its organization, in 1907, the Woman’s School Betterment Associstion has made
$3,980.50 and has been a most active factor in sehool and civic improvement. The Asso-
ciation hag united the women of the town, helped to secure the location of a county high
school in Holly Springs, aided in the passage of a local tax, aided in the vassage of ‘a
$10,000 bond issue for an addition to the old building, helped to equip a domestic sciende
department, seated the new aﬁditorium; and Has been active along many other lines too

numercus to recount here.
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Chapter 5

Woar Gauses dethack

With the declaration of war, Oscar R. Rand, a recruiter for Gov. Zeb Vance’s
famous 26t Regiment, arrived in town to form and train a company for the
Confederate Army. The men left with Capt. Rand to join Vance. Many of those
who left so proudly did not return. (Amis, Historical Raleigh with Sketches of
Wake County and Its Important Towns). A monument near the springs
commemorates their valor.

In 1976, News and Observer columnist Charles Craven wrote about the
26th Regiment:

“Col. Hubert Collins, U. S. Army (ret.), a native of Holly Springs, has
painstakingly researched the role of the 26t Regiment in the bloody disastrous
action which came to be known as ‘Pickett’s Charge,’ Pickett being Maj. Gen.
George Edward Pickett of Virginia.

“Col. Collins, now of Fort Collins, Colo., recently wrote his nephew, Ivan
Mims of Holly Springs, some details of the 26th Regiment’s part in the charge
over wide open ground.

“Collins, a veteran of World War I and World War II, points out that hardly
any recognition has come to the 26th Regiment, an outfit actually conspicuous
for its valor.”

Collins wrote, according to Craven’s column: “The 26t North Carolina
Infantry was the regiment that, during Pickett’s Charge, (July 3, 1863)
advanced to the point known as the ‘High-water Mark’ of the Confederacy. The
regiment in a single day had 14 commanding officers -- 13 of them falling
during the charge. Eight hundred and eighty men entered the engagement, but
only 81 mustered when the battle was over...

“One of the commanders who fell was Maj. J. T. Adams (of Holly Springs).
After long convalescence, he returned and was with the 26t when Gen. Robert
E. Lee surrendered at Appamatox. Colonel Adams was a close friend of our
family. When I grew up as a boy, I learned much about Pickett’s Charge from
him.”

Collins continues: “In the charge of the Light Brigade at Balaclava (Crimean
War) on Oct. 25, 1854, the British brigade lost less than 70 percent of the
troops engaged; but eight years, eight months and eight days later, the 26th
Infantry lost more than 90 per cent (90.8 per cent to be exact) of its total
strength before withdrawing from the battlefield. Many college students both
North and South can quote a few lines from the ‘Charge of the Light Brigade.’

Craven observes that “no poem was ever written” about the 26th,

Effocts of the War

Sanders, writing of the effect of the war on the town: “With the exit of the men
came a change in the economic picture of the community. The two schools closed
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because there were no men to pay tuition.”

But nothing like the devastation to other southern towns reached Holly Springs
until the end of the war.

“In January of 1875, the Union General, William Tecumseh Sherman, started his
drive north from the burned city of Atlanta that eventually ended with his meeting the
southern General Joseph E. Johnston at Bennett Place near Durham. When Sherman
began this march through the Carolinas, he cut himself off from his supply base at
Savannah. Therefore, his troops had to live off the land, roaming the countryside.

“There were strict regulations governing those foraging parties, but the orders
were often disregarded. Many of the groups degenerated into bands of marauding
robbers, operating on their own without the supervision of an officer. A band of these
‘bummers’ hit Holly Springs and committed a good amount of destruction. Col. W. J.
Palmer arrived and set himself up in the Leslie home, making it the headquarters of the
14th Army Corps for about two weeks.” (from John Gilchrist Barrett’s North Carolina as
a Civil War Battleground, 1861-1865, N. C. Department of Archives, 1964)

A reporter for The News and Observer, writing about the Leslie house in 1949,
reported that Mrs. Leslie, “hated the Yankees bitterly, but she loved her home and so
she treated them with cool civility. The result was that while much of the country was
put to the torch, Leslie Hall was untouched.”

In a 1992 audio-taped interview among longtime residents Mary Lee Johnson,
Sylvian Brooks and Edwin Mims, Mrs. Johnson asked Mr. Mims, “Ed, didn’t Sherman’s
Army take the chandeliers out of your house when they came through?”

“Um-huh, that’s what they say,” Mr. Mims, the most recent inhabitant of the
Leslie-Alford-Mims house, agreed.

Mrs. Brooks shared the same account as the 1949 news article, “Legend has it
that the lady of the house charmed the soldiers so that they didn’t burn house down...
they did get the chickens, though.”

Mims added, “and the chandeliers.”

Another woman living in the area during the war, Rebecca Jones Alford, mother of
the man who would later buy the Leslie house and become a leader in Holly Springs
(and Mr. Mims’ great-grandmother), was not so civil to the invaders from the North. On
her tombstone in the cemetery at Pleasant Grove Baptist Church, her epitaph tells the
story: “A devoted Christian mother who whipped Sherman’s bummers with scalding
water while (they were) trying to take her dinner pot which contained a ham bone being
cooked for her (Confederate) soldier boys.”

War Leaves eﬁeva-rtatz'on,
oEut Eeemfa‘ve.r ?om t;% 3tremj ‘Gommtmz'?}/

As with the rest of North Carolina, the local economy of Holly Springs was
devastated by the war and Reconstruction which followed. A number of families moved
away. The exodus was encouraged by the construction of the Chatham Railroad
through the village of Apex, giving Apex a transportation and freight handling link to
the outside world which Holly Springs did not have. This railroad eventually changed
hands and was renamed the Seaboard Air Line. It became a principal north-south
freight and passenger line.

The detrimental effect on Holly Springs is evidenced in a county survey done
about 1871 which shows only 10 buildings of any size in the town. (Sanders).
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Historian M. N. Amis described the town at that time as “a deserted village.”

Slaves living in the vicinity of Holly Springs found themselves free men and
women following the Emancipation Proclamation. Almost immediately, in 1865, a
group of approximately 50 freed men of the area pooled their resources and bought a
half-acre plot of land between the fork of Buckhorn and Fuquay Roads for an African-
American Baptist Church.

(Hubert Colllins notes in a letter to Carl Holleman written in 1977 that prior to the
Civil War, 20 slaves had been accepted into membership of the Holly Springs Baptist
Church.) The original services were held in a log cabin, but through the years new
buildings were constructed. The original church structure burned, according to the
Holly Springs Centennial Committee’s history compiled in 1976. The site of the
church -- now the First Baptist Church -- was moved to its present location on Grigsby
Avenue. The present structure of the First Baptist Church of Holly Springs was built in
1880. It has been renovated several times, and it was faced with brick in 1955.

It was also soon after the Civil War -- in 1871 -- that the Holly Springs Christian
Church was organized by the Rev. Jackson Jeffers with three original members, Prince
Page, Mrs. Eddie Page and Ned Balitine. Worship services were held in the Masonic
Lodge for the first year. Then, under the leadership of the Rev. John Kent, the
congregation grew and the church was able to purchase land on Grigsby Avenue and
build a church. The church building has been enlarged and renovated over the years.
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“We can convince any agaz'tafz'&t who will Vistt our town with a view to focatz'nj any

mzmufézctun'nj ente;yarz’&e in our state that there is no Jaface in the state to surpass

”

%ff}/ zgfrl’nje" as to health and” pure cgarz'nj water.
— Col. George Benton Alford, editorial, The Cape Fear Enterprise, 1899

Chapter 6

Good Times egoturn

The start of good times returning to the village of Holly Springs after the
war can be dated to the arrival in 1875 of George Benton Alford who (one writer
says was “attracted by the healthfulness of the location”) moved his successful
mercantile business from Middle Creek Township to Holly Springs and was
instrumental in beginning an economic revival in the community. A year later
he bought the Archibald Leslie house which was the centerpiece of the village.
Over the years he made significant additions, adding the east wing around 1877
and the larger west wing in the early 1900s, until it became “one of the largest
mansions in the county.” (Turner, Page 1, Section 7)

The house had 31 rooms. It was one of the few in Wake County which had
its own ballroom. The Alfords were never as social as the Leslies had been,
however. Alford was first of all a businessman.

Just two years after his arrival -- in 1877 -- Alford led an effort to get the
General Assembly to grant Holly Springs a charter of incorporation. (Laws of N.
C.) and by 1880 the town had a population of close to 300.

Alford was bom in 1845 some two miles south of Cary. As the son of Green
Haywood and Rebecca Jones Alford, he was descended through both his father
and mother from old and prominent Wake County families which had long been
active in the affairs of the county. (Turner from Alford family publication.)
Alford was a civic-minded individual, serving at various times as both a justice
of the peace and a county commissioner. He was also a successful and
progressive businessman with a dream of making Holly Springs into an
industrial city. The village became something of a boom town at the turn of the
century, largely through his efforts. (Turner)

Alford had numerous business interests, among which were the general
mercantile store, a sawmill, a cotton gin, a turpentine works and a brick kiln.
Edwin Mims also remembered that it was Afford who once drained Sunset Lake
to plant rice paddies. He also started the Holly Springs Land and Improvement
Company which, along with other undertakings, was to build and operate
cotton mills.

In 1899, he founded the Cape Fear News and Advertising Company, which
published The Cape Fear Enterprise. The newspaper was the voice of Alford’s
single-handed attempt to build up the town. His weekly editorials touted the
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achievements and attributes of Holly Springs and urged investors to buy stock
in the Holly Springs Land and Improvement Company.

In 1891, along with 20 other prominent men in the Holly Springs
community, Alford formed and received a charter of incorporation from the
General Assembly for the Cape Fear and Northern Railroad.

The writer of Historical Raleigh reports: “This road was intended by the
promoter to open up the country and give shipping facilities for the town. On
account of the hard times which followed immediately afterwards, the work of
construction could not be undertaken, and the charter was extended from time
to time by succeeding Legislatures. Finally, by 1889, Benjamin N. Duke and
other capitalists of Durham had become interested and construction finally
began.

The first shovelful of dirt was thrown by Miss Mattie V. Alford, daughter of
George Benton Alford, at Holly Springs, on the 27t day of July, 1898.”
(Historical Raleigh)

Alford was the railroad’s first president. He was succeeded by Duke. J. C.
Angler was manager. The railroad was later bought by Benjamin Duke and
became the Durham and Southern. Mrs. Mary Lee Johnson, a lifelong resident
of Holly Springs, now in her 80s, remembers when the trains came through.
The depot was on Avent Ferry Road behind where the town hall is today.

Laughing at the memory, Mrs. Johnson said, “Every child, I reckon from
Dunn to Durham, would hear the train and they’d run and (the conductor)
would throw them out some candy... and he’d wave at every child.”

She recalls the times she rode the train to Durham.

“l was a little bitty thing,” Mrs. Johnson said, recounting the time she and
her little companion were so excited about a trip, she said.

“We were scared to death that thing was going to jump the track, we
thought it was just a’flyin’,” she said, laughing a little at her memory as an
adult that the train was really just creeping along.

Chuckling, Mrs. Brooks added in agreement, “It would take all day for the
train to go just 96 miles.”

All three residents (Johnson, Brooks, Mims audio tape) recalled how much
vitality the depot added to life in Holly Springs. Folks would “go to the depot”
anytime fresh fish was scheduled to arrive... and, of course, to wait on the mail.

“That’s when life wasn’t at such a fast pace,” Mims said. “We don’t have
time to wait for the mail now.”

ﬂ;vmatz'nj ?Igf'/j/ ga;pﬁnj.r
The little town’s intrepid leader pulled out all the stops when promoting his
community in editorials in his newspaper, The Cape Fear Enterprise. In 1899,
he wrote:
“This beautiful village of 250 inhabitants is within a few miles of the center

of the state, 16 miles southwest of Raleigh, the capital, connected by rail with
Raleigh by two different lines, the C.F.&N to Apex and then via S.A.L. to Raleigh
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and at a junction on the Raleigh & Cape Fear railroad to Raleigh.

“Iron ore of a very rich quality in considerable quantifies has recently been
discovered near here with about 60 percent of metallic iron and two very fine
mineral springs flowing beneath these ore hills, containing six grains or more
per gallon of solid matter, mostly iron. Gold has also been found near here.
The town is well located for almost any type of manufacturing enterprise. The
natural drainage cannot be surpassed; the water supply for drinking and for
steam purposes is inexhaustible, of purest of water.

“We can convince any capitalist who will visit our town with a view to
locating any manufacturing enterprise in our state that there is no place in the
state to surpass Holly Springs as to health and pure spring water.”

He goes on to point out the availability of labor and the willingness of the
Holly Springs Land and Improvement Company -- “which has control of most of
the best sites”-- to assist any capitalist interested. “This company has power to
manufacture everything you can think of and also carry on any and all kinds of
business, including banking business,” Alford adds.

He is pushing especially for a cotton mill in this and subsequent editorials.

In an editorial written in 1900, he urges residents to buy shares at $50
each in the Holly Springs Land and Improvement Company which was trying to
raise $25,000 to build a cotton mill. He suggests “it is not impossible for this
stock to double in value (in) less than five years.”

In a subsequent editorial he reports that the Land and Improvement
Company is
giving away “beautiful town lots to subscribers to stock in our company.” To get
a lot, a subscriber had to buy four stock shares for a total of $200 and agree to
build a house valued between $300 and $500. Afford assures would- be
purchasers that “We honestly believe that every one who joins our company
under this arrangement will be able to get at least $200 for the lot and more
than $200 for the stock which will double in 24 months.”

Alford sought not only to foster the growth of Holly Springs through
education and industrial development; he also attempted to capitalize on the
area’s natural beauty and natural resources by developing the springs into a
resort. The large 1900s addition to the Leslie-Alford house was designed as
guest quarters to accommodate visitors to the springs. His dreams of a resort
did not materialize. Alford’s second wife, Texanna Collins Alford, housed
boarders in the addition.

Alford was a Confederate veteran, having served as a private in Company I,
41st Regiment of North Carolina State Troops (34 Regiment, N.C. Cavalry) and
was instrumental in the establishment of the Oscar R. Rand Camp of the
United Confederate Veterans. Dr. D. B. Utley served as adjutant. The writer of
Historical Raleigh writes:

“One of the greatest days Holly Springs has ever witnessed was the day
Capt. Oscar R. Rand visited the meeting of the camp named in his honor. In its
report of the day, The News and Observer stated that there was a Confederate
flag on a tall pole, planted in the same hold that the Confederate flag pole stood
in during the war when Capt. Rand had his headquarters here, organizing his
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famous company.” At one time there was also a chapter of Daughters of the
Confederacy in the village.

It was from his leadership of the local UCV troop and his devotion to
keeping alive the achievements and sacrifices of the 41st Regiment that Alford
earned his honorary title of colonel. And it was Alford who led a fund-raising
effort to erect the handsome monument in front of his house honoring Wake
County Confederate veterans.

The monument was unveiled on Oct. 25, 1923, during an impressive
ceremony attended by dignitaries from across the state.

Alford encouraged the recognition of veterans in editorials in his
newspaper. In announcing the upcoming July 4th “white people’s picnic in the
Baptist church grove” in 1990, he wrote, “We cordially invite all old veterans to
be present. We want to have a kind of reunion that day and we assure you that
you shall have our special attention.”

The following week he reported the names of 55 veterans who registered at
the picnic and wrote: “At 2:30 Mr. A. B. Stronach delivered a very feeling
address to them which led to organizing the O. R. Rand camp united C-V with
30 charter members. The following were elected officers of said camp
headquarters at Holly Springs: G.B. Alford, commander; Col. J . T. Adams, 1st
lieut.; W. H. Utley, 2nd lieut.; Dr. B. S. Utley, adjutant.

“While the camp was being organized, touching talks were made by
comrades F. H. Busbee and J. C. Birdson,” Alford wrote.

22



Chapter 7

eﬁgﬁuiftﬁn 1g Dchools

During the years of the Civil War and those immediately following, the schools of
which the community had been so proud became defunct. Children were taught in
private homes or at small private schools. One of the principal teachers remembered
from that period was J. D. Marcom. At one point Mrs. Julius Allison rented a room in
the Lodge for a school, but it failed. In 1866 Lydia Lyndsay tried the same thing, but
her school also had to close. Several attempts were made to revive the old Academy,
but they were not successful. Finally, the school building was sold in 1868 to the local
Methodist congregation. (Sanders)

But, by 1876, under the leadership of Alford and Dr. B. S. Utley, the Holly Springs
Academy was re-established in the Masonic Lodge as the Holly Springs Institute, a
coeducational boarding school. W.A. Whitted, a Wake Forest graduate, was its first
principal. One year later he was succeeded by the Rev. J. M. White, also of Wake
Forest. In 1888 the dynamic and courtly educator Capt. C. F. Siler took on leadership
of the school. He was a graduate of Trinity College (now Duke University). He was
assisted by J.D. Marcom. At this time the school was attended by more than 125
students. (Sanders)

[Note: Names of other teachers and principals are available in Historical Raleigh.]

Sanders writes: “In these days students came to the Institute from many towns
and cities which were then rather far from Holly Springs. Commencement exercises
each year drew well over a thousand friends, relatives and well-wishers to the town.

“At one commencement, Josephus Daniels, then a young politician and Raleigh
newspaperman, was the principal speaker. He was introduced as ‘a young statesman
who is known on two hemispheres..., or will be.” Daniels eventually served in the
Cabinet and was an ambassador.”

Throughout the history of education in Holly Springs, there was always the
presence of solid support from the Masons of the community. They had been stalwarts
of the Academy in 1854, and they were leaders in the move to reorganize the school as
the Institute in 1883. The Lodge building even doubled as a schoolhouse.

In the summer of 1892, the Masons assumed complete control of the school,
including the appointment of faculty members. The following resolution from the
minutes of the Lodge bears this out:

“Whereas, we, the members of the Holly Springs Lodge, having seen the good
effects and influences growing out of the school at this place and being desirous of
seeing the school permanently established and wishing to place ourselves in a position
to be more useful to the community and country at large, and especially to our
brethren and their indigent children; and

“Whereas we, feeling that under present circumstances, the permanent
continuation of this school is not certain -- (we resolve) that the Holly Springs Lodge
assume the responsibility of conducting a school at this place intended for the
preparation of students for college, teaching and the active business pursuits of life,
and that we use every honest effort to make it second to no academy and a blessing to
the community and our brethren of the Masonic fraternity especially.”

Thus, in 1893, the school became the Holly Springs Masonic Institute.

Seven years later, in October of 1900, Alford writes in The Cape Fear Enterprise of
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the Holly Springs Academy (or Institute):

“Rev. C. V. Brooks is conducting one of the best schools we have ever had, not
flattering Brother Brooks, but must say his school is not to be surpassed anywhere.
Brother Brooks has no public school in with his. He has upward of 60 students,
among whom are twenty boarders. There are 5 employed as teachers in the school
now, and all branches are taught here that a young man or a young lady wishes to
study outside of college. Brother Brooks teaches higher mathematics and languages
while Mrs. S. W. Oldham has charge of the primary department. Mr. Q. I. Hudson of
Apex who has the honor of preparing many of the best telegraph operators in the
United States has a good class of telegraphic students.

“Miss Cora Holt has charge of the music department while Miss Mattie Alford
teachers art, shorthand and typewriting.

“A young man or young woman cannot go to a better place than Holly Springs to
get an education. Board is cheap here and arrangements can be made here as low as
any place in the state to go to school. Parents or guardians wanting to put their
children forward in one of the best schools in the state would do well to correspond
with Rev. C. V. Brooks.”

An advertisement for the Holly Springs Academy run in The Cape Fear Enterprise
reports that “tuition is $1 to $3 a month, music and art $2.50 each, incidental fee 50
cents per term and board and room $6 a month.”

The history of the Holly Springs Masonic Lodge indicates that its operation of the
school ended in 1902, but it does not state the reason. The town’s first public school,
known as the Holly Springs High School -- although it had grades 1 through 11 --
opened in 1908.

A newspaper story which appeared in the April 27, 1972 edition of The
Fuquay- Varina Independent, (its author not identified) gives the following account of
the community effort to get a county high school for Holly Springs:

“In 1906-07, an effort to improve the school facilities was made. Under the
leadership of Raymond A. Burt, J. Rang Carter and the Woman’s Betterment
Association, ten acres of land was purchased near the springs. An old house and barn
and ninety wagon loads of rubbish was removed from the school site. Four acres of
land was planted in cotton which was cultivated and harvested by the ladies of the
Holly Springs Woman’s Betterment Association of which Miss Clyde Holt was president
at that time . ‘Box’ parties, entertainments, fees and contributions all went into the
effort which won for them first prize from the county association.

“The association sent out committees to canvas that section of the county in an
effort to secure one of the county high schools for Holly Springs. Their effort was
highly successful; the high school was secured; a local tax issue was passed; the new
well-equipped school was erected and the first classes were held there in 1908. It
served white boys and girls, grades one through eleven. By 1914 an enlargement was
made and boarding students still came to the school and were accommodated in
private homes.

“Holly Springs High School was ranked among the very best.”
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Holly Springs High School, 1915
The photo and text below are copied from the 1915-1916 “Catalogue of Holly Springs Public
High School.” Schools — or the absence thereof — have always played a part in the Town’s
vitality through the years.

HOLLY SPRINGS PUBLIC HIGH SCHOOL

HISTORY

The progressive educational spirit mow extant in the village of Holly
Springs and the surrounding community doubtless stands as a memorial to
the names and memories of such educational and community leaders as
Professors Siler, Davisson, Oldham, Burt, and many others. Cooperating
with these leaders were a band of citizens—men and women whose untiring
sacrifice greatly aided in engendering the healthy‘educational spirit that in
1907 found expression in a well equipped Public High School building. This
building served adequately the purposes of the school through the days of
Professaors Meclntyre and Wright. But in 1913-1914 the school, under the
guidanoe of Prof. J. E. Pearson,‘ experienced the need of more room in order
to vrender its best service. At once the community, stimulated into action,
voted bhonds, end in the summer of 1914 erected a ten-thousand-dollar addi-
tion to the eld building. At present Holly Springs High School is housed in
a handsome and splendidly equipped building. i
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Memories of Ediwvin Mims

(Editor’s Note: Edwin (Ed) Mims was in his early 80s when he passed away last
year. Prior to his passing, Mr. Mims visited in 1999 with the author of this history
compilation, who was able to capture a bit of his memories.)

Mr. Mims, a descendant of some of the earliest settlers of Holly Springs, (his
mother was Delcie Collins Mims) was born just off Avent’s Ferry Road about two miles
south of the present town limits. His birthplace was actually in the community settled
prior to Holly Springs proper. But he remembered moving with his family into town to
the Leslie/Alford house when he was about six years old and ready for school.

Mims’ grandmother, Texanna Collins Alford, was George Benton Alford’s second
wife. She was living in the big Leslie/Alford house at the time of Alford’s death, but she
did not inherit the house, according to Mims; instead, his family purchased the house
from the Alford estate.

Mims’ father, Marcus Mims, ran a general store at the comer of Avent’s Ferry Road
and Ballentine Street (site of Holly Springs Auto Parts today).

Mims remembered that Holly Springs had one of the first consolidated
schools -- grammar grades and high school --in Wake County.

“Men and women worked hard to get that school,” he said.

Schools for Dlack Children

Also in the early 1900s a school was organized for black children. According to
Sanders’ history, it reportedly met first in the Good Samaritan (black) Lodge located on
the west side of Highway 55 across from the Christian Church cemetery. (No
documentation could be located to further identify the Good Samaritan Lodge. The
first black Masonic Lodge in Holly Springs, the Eli Lodge, was started sometime after
1950.)

A schoolhouse was built for black students on land purchased from the Earp
family on the east side of what was then the old Fuquay Road. (from Centennial
Commission history)

Usually public funds provided half the cost of such schools and local residents
and the Rosenwald Fund split the other half.

Thomas W. Hanchett, writing about Rosenwald Schools for the N.C. Historical
Review, (1988, Vol. 65) listed a four-teacher school in Holly Springs as having received
funds in the 1923-24 year, but did not specify the amount. Other histories of Holly
Springs state that classes for black children were held in First Baptist Church and the
Christian Church while the new building was under construction. An auditorium was
eventually added to the building. Mrs. Cora Lassiter, 80, who lives on Grigsby Avenue
in Holly Springs, attended that school, known in the community as “the old plank
school,” and remembers a picture of Julius Rosenwald which hung on the wall.

In interviews in 1998, Parrish Womble, a lifelong resident of Holly Springs, and
Charles V. Holleman, who left to become an optometrist in Raleigh, both recalled their
school days in the plank building, which had four classrooms and an auditorium that
served as classrooms for sixth and seventh graders. Coal burning heaters in each
room provided heat. Students were sent to the woods to get light wood to start fires
and were charged with filling coal scuttles to keep the fires burning. By the time
Womble and Holleman attended the school, it was part of the Wake County Schools
system.
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Both lauded the work of W. E. Hunt, who served as a teacher at the school in
1943 and 1944 and as principal from 1945 until his death in 1959. He was known as
a strict disciplinarian, but also as a kind man ever-interested in his school, his
students and the community. Although Hunt’s family lived in Raleigh, he rented a
room in Holly Springs and spent week nights in town, planning activities for young
people and teaching and counseling black adults.

The old plank school was replaced with a new brick building in 1951.

In 19359, black high school students were bussed to Berry O’Kelly School, which
also was a Rosenwald School, in Method.

HMore Ghiurches

During its flourishing days in the early 1900s, the community saw several other
churches come into its midst. Douglas Chapel Church was organized in 1903 by Frank
Douglas. According to the church’s own history, its first service was held in a brush
harbor in Buckhorn township. For seven years, services were held at a Buckhorn
location. In 1910, Douglas Chapel began holding services in the old Champion School
west of Holly Springs with Rev. J. Z. Siler as pastor.

In 1925, the present church structure was purchased from the Holly Springs
Methodist Church and moved to its present location on Douglas Street. The church’s
history has recorded that “... Some members can remember this because as children
they were allowed to ride in the building as it was being towed by horses.”

It was also during the early 1900s that Episcopal and Catholic churches were
formed in Holly Springs. Sanders in “Metamorphosis” reported that an Episcopal
congregation began meeting in the Masonic Lodge in 1910 but never became a strong
denomination in the area.

Edwin Mims remembered the Episcopal congregation. He said it was the wife of a
Mr. Templeton who ran a furniture store, a staunch Episcopalian, who got the church
started. He thought the church at one time had a small building behind the Masonic
lodge on land which belonged to the Templetons.

The Catholic Church -- St. Mary’s -- was larger and more active for a longer time.
It was served by Father Thomas Price, the first native North Carolinian to be ordained a
priest. (from Catholic publication). Sabastian Scholl and his family were among the
most active members. In a 1987 interview, Mrs. Myrtle Scholl Hopson, a daughter of
Sabastian Scholl and long-time resident and teacher in Fuquay-Varina, had fond
memories of the days her family lived next door to the small church -- a frame building
with heart-of-pine paneling and hanging kerosene lanterns. Her family maintained the
church, painting it each time their home was painted. She also remembered helping to
keep the brass lanterns and candlesticks polished. Mrs. Hopson was Myrtle Scholl
when she attended Holly Springs Public High School in 1916, receiving the “Best
Seventh Grade Graduate” award at commencement.

Another family, the Coudons, saw to it that fresh flowers and greenery adorned
the sanctuary each Sunday, Mrs. Hopson said. Mass was held once a month. “It was
a happy occasion to see Father George Woods come driving into town in a horse and
buggy from Nazareth (the Catholic orphanage he served),” Mrs. Hopson said. “The
children were always eager to show their knowledge of the catechism.”

With the advent of World War I, many families, including many who had been
members of the Catholic church, moved away. Eventually membership declined to
such extent that the church was disbanded and the building sold.
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Meanwhile the Baptist Church was growing. By 1921 the roll topped 200 and a
larger building was needed. So the congregation relocated to its present site on Raleigh
Street. Land was donated by Mr. and Mrs. W. A. Seagraves. Services were first held in
the new church in 1928. According to Mrs. Mary Lee Johnson, the old Baptist building
was sold to a Free Will Baptist congregation which used it for worship for a short time
in Holly Springs, then moved it to Durham.

Earliest Minutes of
Town Board

No doubt minutes were
taken during every
meeting of the Holly
Springs Town Board of
Commissioners since
that very first board
meeting in 1877,
however, the earliest
records on file at Town
Hall date back to only
May 1927. One thin
minute book was used
for all town board
meetings between May
1927 and June 1945.
Former Fuquay-Varina
Mayor Alfred Johnson
(now deceased) said
he seemed to
remember that his
father was in
possession of one
Holly Springs town
record book, which he
believed contained the
minutes from 1877
through 1927. The
book has not been
located. Atrightis a
copy of the oldest set
of minutes known.
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Chapter 9

%ff}/ Cgfrz'njef Ffourz’&/;ea n far/y 1900s

When Ed Mims looked back to his childhood in Holly Springs, he remembered a
busy community with lots of horses and buggies and wagons and a few “copperhead
Fords,” a car he described with copper trim. The streets were dirt in those days, and
what is now Grigsby Avenue was the main road from Fuquay Springs to Apex. In those
days, almost anyone in town, if he looked back far enough, would find he was related
to everyone else, Mims said. “You knew you could only go courting so far in a horse
and buggy,” he offered as explanation.

He also remembered several doctors -- Dr. B. W. Burt, a Dr. Brown, Dr. B. S.
Utley and a Dr. Bryant. Several had their own pharmacies. Dr. Burt eventually sold
his pharmacy to W. C. Shaw, who later sold it to Mims’ brother, Ivan. Ed worked with
Ivan in the pharmacy for some time. Ed still owned the building when he passed away.
Now, his nephew, James Wright, has plans to incorporate the drug store building into a
new development downtown.

Although he hadn’t sold medicines for many years, Ed still handled a few antiques
in the store until just a few years ago.

In addition to a number of general stores, there was also the W. L. Price
Manufacturing Company which made most anything out of wood, its wares ranging
from tobacco slides to caskets, Mims recalled. Just outside of town he recalled a
planer mill and a cotton gin, a brick kiln and a turpentine works.

Although Ed didn’t remember it -- this may have been before his time -- a story in
The Raleigh Times, written in the 1950s by Heulon Dean, reports that the Ernie Brewer
store, which stood at the comer of Grigsby and Raleigh Streets, was once a saloon.

“Farmers could come in and sit around the huge pot bellied stove and make
conversation while partaking of beer,” the story reports.

The upstairs of the structure served as a local undertaking parlor. Dean writes:

“Carter and Sons carried a wide variety of makes and styles of caskets on display
at all times and when someone in the neighborhood died, they just came over, selected
a casket, took it home and buried their family themselves.

“For those who wanted and could afford the freer things in life, Carter offered the
services of his stallion-drawn hearse. The hearse body was mounted on springs and
would afford any person an easy last ride to the cemetery.”

Dean’s story was written at the time the Brewer store building was being torn

down.
agudne.we.r ?f&un’a]f

As he saw businesses and schools and services flourishing, Alford extolled his
town editorially, writing at the turn of the century:

“Our town is getting a hustle on it. It has always been said there is more in the
man than in the land. There is more in the hustle now-a-days in building up a
community than in the special locations.

“You can get almost any article of merchandise here now as low or lower than
anywhere in the country, which fact is manifesting itself daily by the quantity of goods
bought and sold. We have a new dry goods and general merchandise store just opened
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up a few days ago. Mr. W. L. Brewer is the proprietor. His stock is full and nice. Mr.
J. R. Seagroves also carries a full line of general merchandise.

“Then comes the T. B. Holt establishment. Mr. Holt carries a line of general
merchandise and furnishes a great many farmers supplies. Mr. J. R. Carter carries a
full line of drugs and medicines, and Mr. J. F. Carter has a full line of groceries, and he
proposes to compete with all competition; then comes the mammoth stock carded by G.
B. Alford, who handles as near everything as any one merchant in the state.

“One cannot go amiss here for finding clever salesmen and something to spend
your money for.”

He went on to write, “Leaving the mercantile department of the town, one of the
latest improvements of the town is the beautiful residence of J. F. Carter on the corner
of Main and Center Streets. The Rev. S. W. Oldham is building a nice cottage here and
will make it his permanent home.”

Oldham was pastor of the Holly Springs Baptist Church. He also served as local
editor of The Cape Fear Enterprise.

While he filled his newspaper with advertising from Raleigh, Apex and Sippihaw
(later Fuquay Springs) as well as from Holly Springs, Alford also constantly encouraged
his readers to subscribe to the paper at a cost of $1 per year. As an incentive to
subscribe, he promised to hold a drawing from receipts for subscriptions and award
the lucky ticket-holder a new buggy.

By the year 1913, when the book Historical Raleigh was published, Holly Springs
was described as “flourishing.”

The writer of that publication says of the town, “It boasts one of the best high
schools in the state, has a number of flourishing mercantile establishments and other
industries. The Durham and Southern Railroad runs by its doors, furnishing excellent
transportation facilities, connecting with the Atlantic Coast Line at Dunn, the Seaboard
Airline at Apex, and the Southern Railway and Norfolk and Western at Durham.

“It’s the seat of thrift and enterprise and the home of culture and refinement.”

Some would have town stay small. That’s the way Miss Blanche Holt remembered
it in a story which appeared in The Fuquay-Varina Independent in 1976. Miss Holt,
who was 86 at the time of the interview, said, “I can remember hearing my father say
he never wanted to see any industry come into Holly Springs. The people who settled
in this community wanted it to stay a little country village,” she said.

Miss Holt attended the Holly Springs Academy for two or three years before the
Holly Springs High School was built, then continued her education in the new county
school, one of the first four high schools built in Wake County.

Her family was among those who took boarding students in their home to live
while they attended the Holly Springs Schools. (Miss Holt lived in the house that
currently houses the Town of Holly Springs Department of Public Safety on Main
Street.)

Miss Holt’s parents moved to Holly Springs from Harnett County. Her father, T. B.
Holt, went into business in a general store with G. B. Alford. Several years later, the
store burned and both men then went into separate businesses. Holt built a store
directly across the street from his home. The building, which has undergone some
modifications, still stands today and is a convenience store.

A Holly Springs history prepared by the town’s Bicentennial Committee in 1976
reports that electricity came to Holly Springs in 1922, but, at first, was available only in
the evenings and Thursday afternoons so that women could do their ironing. The
history does not say from whence the electricity came or when it became available full
time.
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Sanders writes in his 1966 history:

“The high school constructed in 1908 proved inadequate for the needs of the
growing area. Therefore, a $10,000 bond issue for an addition to the school was
passed by the community in 1914. The new building was completed that summer.

“At that time, there was no rural community in the state that had schools as good
as Holly Springs. In fact, several families moved to the town so their children could
obtain a good education.

“As of 1916, more than 200 students attended the school. Boarders still came to
the school and were accommodated in private homes.”

A school catalogue published in 1915-16 extols the excellent climate and water
available to students from local mineral springs. It also includes the following
information under the heading “Moral Influence:”

“The moral excellence of the young men and young women of Holly Springs is
noteworthy. The citizens of the community and village are a hardworking, thrifty, and
industrious people, who have put forth great effort and have even sacrificed to make
their school one of the leading high schools in this section. A healthy spirit of unity
and cooperation exists on the part of both men and women throughout the
community.”

Expected student conduct is also outlined in the catalogue (particularly relating to
those staying in homes as boarders). Some examples:

“No form of immorality, such a drinking, cursing, playing cards, etc. will be
tolerated. The first offense may be sufficient grounds for expulsion.

“Boys must not loaf on streets, in stores or at the railroad depot.

“Girls must be found always in approved places and under proper chaperonage.”

Ghurches Grow

In 1917, the local Methodists (white) sold their church building to the African-
American Methodists (it became Douglas Chapel) and moved into a new church
building directly across from the white Baptist Church. The land and bricks for the
building were donated by Col. Alford. The move is said to have displeased many of the
more ardent Baptists and it became the source of local friction for years to come,
Sanders reports in “Metamorphosis.”

Ed Mims, in a 1998 interview, was reluctant to talk about the Baptist / Methodist
rivalry but he did recall, with a chuckle, that folks used to say the Baptists would sing
“Will There Be Any Stars in My Crown?” and the Methodists would respond, “No not
one; no not one.”

Still another long-time resident, who didn’t want to be identified, remembered that
Baptists and Methodists attended each other’s churches since both churches had
services on alternating weekends, but neither denomination invited visitors from the
other church to participate in Communion.

31



Chapter

War %rt& ;zyam

Sanders, writing about the effects of the First World War:

“In 1917 the United States entered the First World War. Industry was called upon
to supply war materials, and new jobs were subsequently created in all of the factories.
The larger cities in which the industrial plants were located boomed, and the great
rural to urban transition began. At some indefinite time between 1910 and 1920, the
population of the United States became half urban, half rural.

“Up until that time, the majority of the people had always lived in the country, but
the war and its business boom changed that. Young people of rural areas who were
not in the Armed Forces left their homes and went to seek their fortunes in the city.
This exodus of young talent sounded the death knell for many areas of our country,
but the town of Holly Springs continued to fight.

“By the end of the war, Colonel Alford had acquired several enterprises in the
town, including a long-sought hosiery mill. Plans were afoot to convince Erwin Mills to
locate its main plant in Holly Springs rather than Erwin, but a personal dispute
between Alford and the Erwin Mills’ president developed and the proposed relocation
was dropped.”

Holly Springs in the 1920's was still a vibrant town, even though the war had
slowed its growth.

Mrs. Cora Lassiter, a black woman who was born in 1918 in the Piney Woods
commurtity between Wilbon and Holly Springs, remembers coming into town with her
great uncle, Ned Herbert Page, who with his wife, raised her. Sometimes Page drove to
town to put money in the Holly Springs bank, which stood at the southwest comer of
Main and Center Streets. He would let Cora hold the money -- in coins -- in her lap en
route to the bank.

Mrs. Lassiter attended the school for African-American children, locally dubbed
“the plank school” through the eighth grade, then went to ninth grade at the then-new
Consolidated School for black children in Fuquay Springs.

Mrs. Lassiter, who moved into Holly Springs proper when she married, said there
were a great many black people living in and around Holly Springs as she was growing
up and in the years after she moved into town. She doesn’t remember any problems
between the races. She does remember some good times had when blacks and whites
got together for events such as “corn-shuckin’s.”

At such times corn would be brought in from the fields and placed in a big pile at
the home of a farmer, either black or white, and the surrounding community, black
and white, would be invited for a corn shuckin’. Somewhere in the pile of corn would
be hidden a jar of whisky. When someone found the jar, he would shout out, “I found
it,” open it and pass it around. The events ended with everyone having dinner. The
farmer’s corn would have been shucked and stored for the winter and a good time
would have been had by all.

A number of African-American businesses flourished in Holly Springs during this
period. In a history prepared by the town’s bicentennial committee in 1976, a number
of these businesses are listed but some without dates. Some probably date to the early
1920s. Others are more recent. Wilbert Brower is reported to have opened a grocery
store in the Oddfellows Building on the west side of Highway 55 across from the
Christian Church, then moved his business to a new building on Avent’s Ferry Road.
A branch of a Durham funeral home, Williams and Edwards, was operated in the

32



Oddfellows Building, the history reports. Willis Jones opened a photo shop on Fuquay
Road (now Grigsby Avenue) where he developed his own pictures, Later, Green Prince
opened a grocery store at the same location. (Parrish Womble remembers that Prince
also delivered ice, house to house.).

Shepard Stinson was a builder specializing in carpentry and masonry until his
death in 1940. The village blacksmith shop was located next to the Packhouse, a
grocery store operated by Lattie Rogers until his death in 1956. His wife continued to
run the store for some years thereafter, and locals still refer to the old structure as “the
packhouse.”

Wgw eﬁewfga:mentc

The World War brought new developments in many things, including agriculture.
New fertilizers were developed, which turned land previously thought to be poor into
productive farm land. The Fuquay Springs community suddenly found itself an ideal
spot for the production -- and subsequently, the marketing of -- bright leaf tobacco.
Once Fuquay opened a tobacco market, it began to take in money which had previously
gone to merchants in Holly Springs and Apex. (Sanders)

Alford died in 1924. According to Ed Mims, he fell and broke a leg a short time
after the Confederate monument was dedicated and never recovered. In the wake of
his death, lengthy legal battles ensued between the two children of his first wife --
Green Haywood Alford and Mattie Alford Utley -- and his second wife, Texanna Collins
Alford, who had children of her own from a previous marriage.

The disagreements concerned distribution of his properties, which included vast
tracts of land, most of it held by the Holly Springs Land and Improvement Company in
which Alford held 58 percent of the stock, and the George Benton Alford Company, in
which he held 98 percent of the stock.

Final settlement of the estate did not take place until 1939. Local lore has it that
much of the land eventually went to Wake County and/or the state for non-payment of
taxes and was subsequently purchased by other private citizens.

Alford’s death left Holly Springs without an effective voice in political circles.
Alford had held an amount of political influence which had benefitted the town.
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The publication, “Historica! Raleigh with Sketches of Wake County and Its
Important Towns, compiled by Moses N. Amis and published in 1913, profiles George
Benton Alford. The sketch tells that his ancestors were among the earliest settlers of
Wake County and that some of them were among the county’s early leaders.

The following excerpts from Amis’s writing tell what the man was like:

“He (Alford) was born a Democrat, but, in 1896, believing that the Democratic
party, in its advocacy of free silver, had departed from its first principles, he assumed
an independent attitude, voting according to his judgment and supporting the
candidates of his choice.”

Y

“He has been a justice of the peace and was a county commissioner two years...
He declined a second term.”

Y

“As a reader of books, Mr. Alford has shown fine discrimination. He has found
delight in the study of the Bible, history and in religious books written by well-balanced
authors. While holding membership in the Methodist Church at Holly Springs, Mr.
Alford classes himself as a Protestant. All creeds, he declares, contain some error
mixed with truth. He holds that the Protestants are those who maintain the faith and
the principles upon which the American Government was founded.”

)

“Referring to matters that should claim the attention of all good citizens, Mr.Alford
says that, first of all, we should realize that the foundation on which our liberty,
prosperity and happiness are based are the Bible and the plan of salvation as set forth
in the New Testament of our Lord and Saviour. Without such a foundation, we cannot
hope to perpetuate the great republic.”

Y

“Our government, says Mr. Alford, is based upon the individuality of its citizens.
Each locality should govern through its representatives in local affairs without coercion
from the outside. In this view of political affairs, State prohibition is wrong in principle.
Besides, it is not temperance and is not founded on God’s truth. We need better roads
and more money for our schools, which we had in the county before the prohibition law
went into effect. Mr. Alford believes the State prohibition law should be repealed; that
the county should issue bonds for building modern highways and not keep on wasting
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the taxes as is the prevailing practice.”

Y

On advice to young men starting out in life: “Economy is the first lesson to be
learned. If a young man will choose an honorable vocation and stick to it with
persistent patience, he will command success. A steady, slow and sure advance on the
road to fortune is more to be desired than a mushroom growth, however fascinating the
latter may be.”

Y

Alford was married twice, first to Charlotte Ann Olive, daughter of Johnson and
Martha Olive, and, after her death, to Texanna O. Collins, widow of Walter Collins.

Yoars ofier

The failure of the town’s bank in 1924 wiped out the savings of many residents in
the area. Local speculation has it that an unwise stock investment or a
misappropriation of funds was the cause of the collapse, according to Sanders. The
bank failure was a hard blow to the economic life of the area.

Just before the Depression, the remaining branch plant of Erwin Mills relocated in
Fuquay Springs, dealing yet another blow to the town.

Then came the Great Depression. Farmers and small rural towns such as Holly
Springs suffered. When the federal government began road-building projects to provide
employment, locations for highways depended largely on the political importance of a
town. Since the death of Alford, Holly Springs had had no strong political leadership;
hence, it missed out on the big new roads while its neighbors, Fuquay Springs and
Apex, benefited, Sanders writes.

Holly Springs did get some WPA funds for construction of a $20,000 school
auditorium.
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The town moved along peacefully, though not progressively, until 1940 when it
reported a population of 491. Then came World War II.

Industrial mobilization for the war effort began and, as had happened during the
first World War, new jobs were available in the cities. Rural towns without industry
took another blow. At the close of the war, Holly Springs was faced with a depleted
population. Conditions were such that it was decided in 1946 to drop grades nine
through 12 in the local white school due to a lack of pupils.

A review of town board minutes for the 1940s shows that most meetings were
taken up with the paying of the town’s bills, hearing reports on the hauling of garbage
and cleaning of the cemetery.

(The cemetery was deeded to the town in 1925 by Dr. B. W. Burt and his wife,
Lenna W. Burt, representing the Methodist Church, when its upkeep became too
burdensome for the church. Although nothing in the deed indicates that the
seven- acre cemetery was for burial of white persons only, no black person was buried
there until 1998. Then Mayor Gerald Holleman, elected in 1982, said he made known
to the black community after his election that the cemetery knew no color boundaries,
but it was about 18 years before the town received a request from a black family to
purchase a grave plot. The Holly Springs Cemetery is located at the west end of Earp
Street. This year, the Town is having the seven acres completely surveyed so that plot
sales can resume with accuracy.)

At a town board meeting in September of 1945, Mayor .M. Gattman was
authorized to purchase a gun for the town’s marshal -- its one law enforcement officer —
but not to pay more than $35. At the board’s next meeting it was reported that Judge
Smith had agreed to lend the marshal a gun until one could be bought at a reasonable
price.

At another meeting, the commissioners approved paying Mayor Gattman $1.35 for
five phone calls and killing one dog. The balance in the town’s checking account was
reported at each meeting. It usually ran a little more than $300.

Probably the single biggest event involving the board during the 1940s was the
application of a Mr. Martin to open a grocery store and to include among his
merchandise beer and wine. The board denied his request for a permit.

Martin appealed.

A Superior Court upheld the commissioners’ decision. Martin gave notice of
appeal to the Supreme Court. In the meantime, the town managed to get passed by the
General Assembly a law prohibiting the manufacture and/or sale of beer and wine
within a mile and a half radius of the Holly Springs Baptist Church. (According to
former Mayor Holleman, the local legislation, along with similar laws relating to other
towns, was declared unconstitutional some years later.)

Not much changed in the 1950s. The town voted to purchase and install a traffic
light on Main Street at Avent’s Ferry Road. Eventually the State took it down.

Holly Springs didn’t qualify as a one-traffic light town again until the 1990s.

In 1957, the town was notified that the State would be coming in to inspect all
outdoor toilets. Holly Springs did not at the time have public water or sewer systems.

In 1958, a movement for consolidated schools began in Wake County. The
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remainder of the white Holly Springs school, then grades one through eight, closed.
Elementary children began to attend Fuquay Springs and Apex Schools. In 1978, the
building which had housed the once-prestigious Holly Springs High School was torn
down, prompting Reba B. Mason to write nostalgically in an article in The Western
Wake Herald, an Apex newspaper, “The imposing two-story brick school building no
longer stands in Holly Springs. It was lost to school consolidation and changing times.
It must have been one of the last small neighborhood schools in this area. The school
bell once tolled loudly and strong for generations of Holly Springs families.”
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“We can convince any Ctgal'taﬂd‘t who will Vistt our town with a view to focatz'nj any

mzmufézctun'nj entegarz’&e in our state that there is no Jaface in the state to surpass

”

%ffy zgfrl’nje" as to health and” pure gorinj water.
-- Col. George Benton Alford, editorial, The Cape Fear Enterprise, 1899

Chapter 13
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By 1960, Holly Springs had grown to a population of 581. I. M. Gattman, a
transplanted Yankee who had married a Holly Springs girl and served as mayor of Holly
Springs from 1945 to 1949, once again became mayor in 1961. This time, he made a
real push to get some things moving in Holly Springs. For the first time in the history
of the town, all taxes due were collected. It was about this time a survey was
authorized to determine the feasibility of establishing a public water system. And in
1960 the town’s first zoning commission was established.

In 1964 fluorescent lights were installed on every street and at every public place
in town. This action, plus a general town cleanup and improvement prompted the
seven-county Capital Area Development Association to award Holly Springs first place
in the village division (towns of 1,000 or less).

In 1965 the main street of town (Highway 55) was widened and resurfaced. Other
streets were improved and beautified with shrubbery. These improvements brought
Holly Springs first place in the Wake County Community Development Association’s
competition. The improvements were done without an increase in taxes, which in
1965-66 stood at 65 cents per $100 valuation. At that time the town had no public
debt.

While the town struggled in the early 1960s to improve itself and to interest
business and industry in its location, the lack of utilities -- water and sewer
service - -was a major obstacle to any growth and development. In 1967, the town
board was finally ready to build a water system. An acre and a half of land was
purchased for $1,000. An FHA loan for $145,000 was obtained to pay for drilling wells
and constructing a storage tank and maintenance building. (The town was unable to
make its first interest payment on the FHA loan in June of 1969 but managed to get an
extension till July when tax refund money was due from the State.)

By 1968, a public water supply was available to citizens. It was a big step forward
for the village. It was 1985 before the first wastewater treatment plant was completed.

Town Board minutes from the 1970s indicate more activity in the town. Mayor
Gattman reported that someone had talked to him about a low-cost housing project for
the town.

A health clinic was held regularly by Wake County in the town hall. Agreement
was reached to supply water to Feltonsville, and the Rural Fire Department contracted
with the town to provide fire protection for 10 cents for each $100 of property
valuation.

George Underwood, a local businessman, appeared before the board to say he
thought the town needed a bank. That was in 1972. Several years later, when Jim
Hancock was mayor, the town’s need for a bank came up again before the town board,
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and Commissioner Parrish Womble suggested the town have a large sign created to
place on property adjacent to Town Hall announcing “Bank Wanted.”

Such a sign was erected. It got attention, was photographed by area newspapers
and the photograph distributed across the country via news wire services. Holly
Springs got a flurry of phone calls from banks, some from other states, but it was
Fuquay-Varina-based The Fidelity Bank which followed through and, in 1978, opened
a branch in Holly Springs.

Also in the 1970's many state and federal grants began to be available, and Holly
Springs, poor and suffering from lack of basic services, applied for many and won
several, including monies to hire a police officer, enhance the town park, improve
housing and hire a part-time administrator to work at town hall.

But while the Holly Springs town board was beginning to deal with more and
bigger projects, the town board found itself still having to handle small-town disputes.
At one meeting in 1976 a resident complained that his dog had been shot and that it
wouldn’t have happened if the town had been enforcing its ordinance prohibiting the
keeping of livestock (hogs in this particular case) on less than an acre of land in town.

The complainant said if the hog pen he had in mind wasn’t cleaned up, he would
put one hog pen beside his house and another next to his store on Main Street.

Jim Hancock, mayor at the time, told him to go right ahead if he thought he could
stand the odor. But the board did instruct its police officer to check to see if
ordinances were being violated.

The town’s budget for the 1979-80 fiscal year was $73,000. Holly Springs was
still a tiny town, still struggling to get going.

il cgtrujjfz'nj c%zto the 1980s

As late as 1984, a team of graduate students from the University of North Carolina
at Chapel Hill, conducting a survey of Holly Springs which included 79 percent of the
households in town, found a median household income of $10,400 compared to a
median of $18,643 countywide. The students reported that the 1980 census had
shown 39 percent of the town’s population living in poverty. Even more striking, the
census data also showed that one family out of four inside the town limits was still
using outdoor bathroom facilities.

It was not until 1985 that a sewage treatment system was finally in place and
several years thereafter before the town was free of all outdoor privies.

Also in 1985 the town won a $745,000 Community Development Block Grant to
improve housing in some of the needier areas.

At the mid-point of the decade, Holly Springs retained its one-square-mile
shape -- with one small alteration.

But within the next few years both Easton Acres to the north and a section called
West Holly Springs were annexed. About the same, time town officials began to look for
an additional water source, considering additional wells or tying into the South Wake
water line, going to Harnett County or creating the town’s own surface water source.
The South Wake water line ultimately proved to be the best source for the time.

That was 1988 when the population remained just under 800. Town
commissioners foresaw needing an additional 250,000 gallons of water within the
following two years.

It was also in the late 1980's that Martin Marietta and Nello Teer both sought to
locate rock quarries in south west Wake County. Teer would be closest to Holly
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Springs. Although many area residents objected, fearing heavy truck traffic and
decreased land values around the quarry, the company won approval and was annexed
to Holly Springs.

The town looked favorably in the later 1980s on one big project, estimated to
involve a $20 million investment, which looked promising for a time but then fizzled.
A group of Raleigh businessmen wanted to locate near Holly Springs a “reliever”
airport, a facility for smaller planes, so they wouldn’t have to use Raleigh-Durham
International. Residential and industrial development area was to go around it, and
the Town of Holly Springs prepared to expand its boundaries and growth areas to the
south and west. Everything appeared to be on go until the 11t hour (literally, a day
before the official announcement was to be made to the press and public that Wake
Southwest Airport was to break ground) when the Nuclear Regulatory Agency reversed
its earlier approval and ruled against the airport because of the site’s proximity to the
Harris plant.

Today, we call the site Holly Glen Subdivision!

%rnz'nj nﬁvz’nt

Throughout the 1980s Holly Springs was showing signs of moving from sleepy
village to real-live-town status. As 1990 approached, Holleman, who had been elected
mayor in 1982, was elated over the decision of Warp Technologies, a new company
which would manufacture polyester thread, to build a plant in Holly Springs.

Within one year, from 1989 to 1990, the town’s tax base leaped from $8 million to
$16 million.

Holleman was quoted in The Independent of Fuquay-Varina as saying the arrival of
Warp Technologies represents “... the single most influential growth Holly Springs has
experienced since the Civil War.”

Commenting on the town’s beginning growth, he credited “a modern sewer system
and a major attitude adjustment. It began when people in this town started believing it
was time to want the town to grow. We got tired of being left out, and we figured out it
was up to us to do something about it.”

A short time after Warp Technologies’ arrival, Holly Springs got another big boost
with announcement that the multi-million-dollar Sunset Ridge golf course and
residential community would locate near town and would seek annexation.

Holleman continued to talk up the need for a grocery store, drug store and other
commercial development (and, yes, the town erected another sign on Hwy. 55. This
time, the sign read, “We Want a Grocery Store”). He also urged the community to clean
up, to get rid of junk cars, to clean up littered yards, to make the town look as if those
living there were proud of it.

About 1987 the town had changed its form of government to create the position of
town manager. Current Angier Town Manager Tom Taylor held that post for three
years. Then the town board decided the position -- at $40,000 annually -- was too
expensive. So the charter was amended once more, and Holleman, who was mayor,
became town administrator at a salary of about $24,000. Money saved with the change
went into the town’s general fund. (North Carolina State law provides for the hiring of
town elected officials under the Small Town Exception General Statutes.)

Holleman continued to serve as mayor and town administrator throughout the
1990s as Holly Springs leapt into growth mode, receiving overflow residential
development from Cary and Apex. The town population increased from about 900 in
1990 to 7,000 in 1999 and 9,192 in 2000. But residential growth far outpaced
commercial and industrial growth. Holleman and the town commissioners found
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themselves planning hard to keep up with the new demands brought on by burgeoning
population and, at the same time, seeking the commercial and industrial growth
needed to establish a more balanced tax base.

mZZmentum C(mtz’n ues

As the Town observes its 125t anniversary year in 2002, a new mayor and a new
town board are working to keep up the momentum of progress that touched Holly
Springs in the 1990s, much as it did in the 1890s.

Mayor Dick Sears, who has lived in Holly Springs since the early 1990s, is
enthusiastic about the town’s future. His goals are very much like those of Col. Alford
nearly a century ago — make sure the town has to offer what new industry will need,;
promote the local schools and work to make sure Holly Springs children can receive the
best education possible; and then spread the message that Holly Springs is the best
place in the country to do business, to live, to work, to go to school and to play.

And, so it seems history is repeating itself in Holly Springs.

May this latest wave of prosperity for the town and her citizens continue un-
interrupted.
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‘Those were some fonefy Jae(zjafe because didn ’tnob-m[j/ want to be arcund them with
that maf(f;aoac, you Enow, ”

— Ms. Norris of a smallpox outbreak in Holly Springs in the 1920s

Chapter 14
Iz'vz'n 1q %&tm}/

Back in 1992, some graduate students at the University of North Carolina at
Chapel Hill visited Holly Springs to assess community strengths, assets and needs.
Among the needs identified by the students — which came at no surpise — was the need
for a community school in Holly Springs.

Through the efforts of citizens, the Holly Springs General Federation Woman’s
Club and town officials, Holly Springs Elementary School was opened in 1996.

During the assessment process, the UNC students conducted audio-taped
interviews with some longtime or lifelong members of the community: town historian
Mrs. Mary Lee Johnson; former teacher, retired school principal, former Holly Springs
town clerk (1945-1947) and former Mayor Mrs. Sylvian Brooks (1981-1983); Leslie-
Alford-Mims house owner resident Mr. Edwin Mims; and several residents enrolled in
the local Meals on Wheels program, including Mr. Johnny Lunsford and a Ms. Norris.

Mrs. Johnson, Mrs. Brooks and Mr. Mims are quoted throughout earlier pages in
this history.

An interesting account from Mr. Lunsford is below.

Mr. Lunsford remembers the farming community of Holly Springs. He recalls how
tobacco and corn were major crops, but not the corn of today.

“Corn today is a hybrid,” Mr. Lunsford explained. “It grows thicker. We used to
plant corn about 18 to 22 inches apart. That hybrid corn yields about 300 or 400
bushels to the acre, where we used to get about 25 or 30.”

Recalling when she moved to Holly Springs in about 1921 as a little girl, a Ms.
Norris recalled that some folks in town had smallpox.

“Those were some lonely people because didn’t nobody want to be around them
with that smallpox, you know,” she said. She also recalled the days — with an almost
nostalgic tone in her voice — of hard work in the tobacco fields. She described how a
farmer with a one- or two-mule plow would ready the field for planting and then how
the chopping season followed when the tobacco plants were maturing. Then there was
the hot summer days of harvest by hand when the little children would be assigned to
pulling leaves, while the older children bundled them up on sticks.

“They’d grade the tobacco, putting up the best leaves,” she said. “We’d let the
trash leaves fall to the floor and worry about them later,” she added.

Ms. Norris explained to the interviewers that her parents didn’t own the farm. She
said, “No, they didn’t own the farm... they farmed on what-you-called ‘on halves’ on the
tobacco and the corn.”

Another resident added in the background, “I don’t know what it was ‘halves’
about... I don’t remember that part, but that’s what they called it.”

The group gathered remembered that all members of the family helped out in the
farming -- children, women and men.

Mr. Lunsford said the men mostly did the heavy work, like plowing.

42



But Ms. Norris said, “I had to plow. I remember my Mama said she had to plow,
and I thought I had to do what she did, so I learned to plow. My daddy was glad I
learned,” she added, laughing at the memory.

The residents recalled that in the early 1900s, a lot of the area farms were owned
by black families with names like Utley, Norris, Judd and Beckwith.

When asked what happened, Mr. Lunsford replied with a bit of sadness in his
voice, “Things got tight. Couldn’t pay the bills.”

Lots of folks — black and white — faced economic hardships, especially during the
Depression. But, Mr. Lunsford pointed out, people didn’t know times were hard,
because everyone was in the same shape.

Commenting on what it was like growing up in Holly Springs, Ms. Norris said, “It
was fun. Iliked it. We would play baseball, have picnics on holidays, everybody in
town would enjoy getting together.”

Mr. Lunsford remembered his boyhood excitement about the trains coming
through town.

The audio-tape interviews were being conducted in one of the rooms of the W.E.
Hunt Community Center on Stinson Street, which is now owned by the Town.
Coincidentally, it also was the original site of the four-room school the residents
attended some 30 years before the current building was constructed.

“We’d have reading, writing, math, devotions and spelling,” Ms. Norris said. “The
first words I learned to write were “cat, rat and dog.”

During daily devotions, the students would read Bible scriptures and have quiet
prayer time and sing hymns.

“Down through the years, they cut that out,” Mr. Lunsford said. “They don’t have
devotions like they used to,” he said, quietly.

During the school year, students would enjoy many special programs, like a
Valentines Day event and a pageant at Easter. But the end of school commencement
was the most exciting. Students would come to school dressed in costumes that
represented something special, Ms. Norris said.

What were your teachers like?” the interviewer asked.

“She was a living star,” Ms. Norris said. “She was a teacher. I always thought of a
teacher as ‘Miss Perfect.” She could no wrong.”

Teachers back then, Mr. Lunsford added, “had a lot more respect from the
children than there is now.”

The residents said they liked going to the community center every day for lunch
(the program has since moved to the Pine Acres Community Center in Fuquay-Varina)
because their daily trips were constant reminders of a simpler, happier time when they
attended school on the same grounds.

Except, Mr. Lunsford pointed out, he enjoys the drive over. “I had to walk four or
five miles every day to go to school,” he explained.

Of the recent growth spurt in the Town, Ms. Norris said, “Holly Springs has grown
more in the last two years that it has in the past 50. It think it’s wonderful, but I don’t
know a lot of folks.”
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History of Holly Springs
Dedication

We hope you have enjoyed reading this capsulized version of the History of Holly
Springs. This booklet was compiled from a variety of published materials and personal
interviews conducted by Shirley Hayes of Fuquay-Varina, a local journalist, with
additional research by Town Clerk Joni Powell. Mrs. Mary Lee Johnson, the Town’s
Historian, provided invaluable assistance.

For history’s sake, we hope that the information is accurate; however, we rely on
the writings and memories of others. Please forgive any errors you may note and let us
know of any inaccuracies so that we can verify and correct the record, if needed, for
future generations.

If you have any historical documents, photographs or information that you believe
would contribute to a more complete historical archive for the town, we invite you to
share your materials with your community. We would welcome the opportunity to copy
materials for town files and safely return them to their owners. Please contact the
Town Clerk at the address, email or phone numbers below.

This booklet is dedicated to those citizens of yesterday who recognized the
importance of a historical record of this community and who took the time to write or
talk about Holly Springs. We are grateful for the time and effort you took to preserve
our history so that we can share it with citizens of today.

The following pages are copies of the Town’s first history booklet, published by
school children in 1937 as the Town observed its 50th anniversary. We thought you
would find “The Holly Springs School Chatterbox April 1937" interesting.

A History of Holly Springs

By Shirley Hayes, 1999

With Assistance from Mrs. Mary Lee Johnson

With Contributions by Town Clerk Joni Powell, 2002
Published by the Town of Holly Springs

Town Clerk’s Office

P.O. Box 8

Holly Springs, NC 27540

Email: joni.powell@ncmail.net

January 2002
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HO® QUR TOWN GOT ITS NAWF

"The town of Holly Springs is
logatsd on an elsvation. It
had s large grove of holly tress
locatad around ssveral springs.
within one hundred yards of
the town limit is located the
Johnson Yineral Springs with an

snalyeis of 53% iron givsan it oy
2 state chamist.

The towm is =2imost surroundasd
by streare of running watsr. On
ths south is Frazil Crssk. On
tha wast ia Whits Oak Crask. It
tock its nasm2 from the wmany
springs and trssas near the town

limit,
. Margaret Crszch,”

HISTORY OF HOLLY SPRINGS EAPTIST
CEURCH

Tha Paptls Church is loestad
in Holly €prings,Waks Cournty,N.
C.,fiftasn milze southwast of
Kalsizh,on ths Durksw and South-
=2rn Railway,qnd was organized
Sapt.23,1823.

Isaac Huches wag ths pastor
and David #0llsnd +th: olark. The
church startsd off wsll,but why
did it 4i2 ? PRzcauss sors of
tham wara drinksrs and cthars
had sinful hebits. Thz church
disd,but tha principlss 1id nct:
therefors ths paocls. sho wara
Tzithful rzorgenizzd th: church.
H.T.Danizlg,she hsd l2ft .in 1803
Gew3 bsck in 1831 and h3ld 2 m3e

ting,prsaching sarmong of the

rzstsst powar, In 1835 Wotsen

ixrants gav= thz titls of feur
cr2g for a bLattar church to ba
il

81t iugh thz shurch is ovsr a
randrzd y2ars old,it hss had hut
- pzstore,siviral of vhom hava
¢ fer a long piriod of

{cont,)
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TEF HISTORY OF HOLLY SPRINGS

In 1200 what is now known as

Holly Springs was first started.

Thaere was a 1littls school houss
whars the przs:=nt ons stands,
with onz tsachsr for four months.
Aftzr its day,ths Masonic Hall
was usad for = school houss un=-
t1) part of our presant building
vag 2rgctad,. Than ws had on2 of
thz bast high schools in thz st~
2tz aith boarding pupils from
all ov3sr ths country.

Thz first church ass oudr from
Eolly Springs sbout 4 mibles and
a half. It was movad across the
hill from ths school house.
Batwzan ths two hills ars saver-
al springs around which largs
helly bushass oncs graww,thus glv-
giving it its nams,Eolly Springs.

In 1250 tha2 Mz2thodist church
was built on th: hill n2ar ths
camatsry. Thay wars both movad
in rsze3:nt ysars.

Mr. 3.2, Alford hed soms of
ths springe improvad,~ith th: in-
tantioen of 4dzvzloping s sunmar
rsyscrt. Tharz %zs a monamant =l-
so zrzctad naar his housa.

€2varal y2srs age 3 knitting
miil was opar=t=d on a lot naar
thr dsprt,shich zave many psople
zmpleyment, This Was movwad to
Varinz a faw yzars ago.

Grzham Wood ,7th.

U

THY FIRST AUTOMOEBILE

Martin Collins,#ho was raisad
hers,but was nrorking in Carpantar
at that time,drove tha first
autometils that sntarad this
tO‘m. .

Rav..C.H.Worris,a Baptist min-

'ist=r,was thsz first rzsidant to

e an gutomobils

- e g
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EISTORY OF THY ALFORD HOUSE

Taez plford houss is onz of
tha oldast housss in Holly
Springs. Thz original houss
was built by ¥r. Lezsliz. It
contzinzd five rooms and g
dining room and kitchan.
perch connscting the rooms
with ths kitchan part,whion
w28 an 3xXtsngion =t ths back,
wa8 latticad. In on2 of tha
frent rocws cvar th: firaplacs
is a design inclosing ths inie
tisls A.L. =nd in th: othsr
recew ovsr ths firsplacs is =
liks dssign inclesing ths ini-
tials I.L.. Thage initials,
thosz of ¥r. TLi2sliz and hig
wifs,and the dzsian ars laid
cn #ith plastar.

Ths heuas was bought by ¥r,
G.Peplford and was addzd to
and rerodslad. It was for s
tims usad as =z dorritery for
bearding studsnts of tha Helly
Springs Aczdemy.

The housz,thra: gtoriss high
has about forty recrs in it,a
reof gardansand ssveral por-—
chss,two of which have cclumns
thich add to 1ts cld-fashicnad
APP34ArsnNos. Thz lcwsr stery
has a dining room,kitchan,s
Jobby,and ths family guartars.
They tecrs naxt ¥ Iwa railread

Tha

Y o B T T W VT A W

; L
Wor g
’ m»,. e 5.. . " sl
. . rE el
T -

which wars addsd for Mr.2lford's
first wife's mothar,¥rs.Johnson

0liva t¢ livs in.zrs now rantad

for light heusskssping.

Th2 szcond story has many a-
partments for housak2sping and
reoms for boagrdars.

Thas third floocr contains four
roots which ars ussd as stors-
rcoms for kespsakas and antiqu. .
36 -

The house is situstad in a
ratty place nzar the Ysthodist
hurch =nd scross tha railrosd

from ¥r. Lzshlay's stors.
FEalsan Aoy=zl.

- ———

Mrs. Mary Markham says she
Just can rarembar coming to tha
Alford houss ysars ago whan Mr.
Lz2elis,nvho was a tailer,livad
tharz, In onz of ths front
roome hz had a big tabls and
sha saw him sitting flat on thsa
tabl: with his l3gs crossad
sa2wing.

During ths Civil War soldi-
2rs war2 campad on ths hillsids
nsar the 81ford houss. Thair
tsnts could b2 ssan 9xtending
dcwn to and around ths springs.

Tha first radic in Holly Spr-
ings is said to have besn owmad
by F.F.Crogs,¥iss Mabal Duks,or
Mr. Haywood Alford.
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HISTOSY OF THE MASANIC TOD3F .  THE EVOLUTION OF SCHOOL

The Masonic Ledgs was tuilt Thz first school,th:z Holly
sonstime sbout ths saventiss. Springs Academy,was astablishad
by ths Masons, Our firat high in 1854 w#ith inton W. Chappall
school was In th2 Yssonic lod- s principal. A largs boarding
g8« "hen usad for school pup- heuss was buiit that later bum-
poses,thare wes an s2ddition of ad dom. Thie school closad at
two roomws on th: north2rn sids ths baginning of the Civil War,
of the pressnt building,which B2twz22an 1865 and 1878 thare
havs sincs tsesn torn down. wars s3varal swall privats scho-

The Episcopals h2ld church ©ls. From 18768 to 1883 = scho-
ssrvices in ths lowsr part of 0l was taught undar th2 2ncour-

the Magenic Todgz btuilding dor agsm2nt of G.B.Alford and Dr.B,
sevaral ysars. 8.Utlsy. o
¥han the Fpiscopal sarvicss Aftsr 1883 undar s rzorgini-
wara B‘toppgd-‘tha lowsr story zation of ths boa.l:d of trug‘tsas,
was cut up into living rcoms 2 03# school,ths Helly Springs
and was 80 us:d by diffsrant Afaiamy,flourlshad. Boarding
familiss until racantly. studants from ths surrounding
Sinez than th: Yasonsg hgve Country siis gams hsra. Ths Al-
taken ths pstitions out =nd it £0Td nNOus:s was addad to that the
is now b3ing ussd as & westing Studdnts,Tany of whom did light
placs for diffsrant purrosss. housaskz2ping,might be accommodas
Racently thz “Masons,with the 34+ Ths old heotsl run by Mr.
cooparation of th: pz2onls of and Mrs. Johnnis Saagravas boar-
the community,had ths wain re~ d2d many,and othsrs stayad at
om of th: lowsr floer wall ps- privates homes.

p2r2d and have furnighsd it. Tha o0l1d acadamy building has
Thie room is now tzing usad ag P30 _addsd to from time to tims
a2 community cantar. : until #2 havs now many wall 2qu-

I ipp2d classrooms,z modarn libra-
History of ths Paptigt Chureh TY,2 3w gymnasium,and a rscantly

{cont. complated auditoriumn. A new ha%t
The ohurch alwsys trisd te ing svstzm wss installad in 1935.
22t ths best psstors and hes  _ TCTTeS
nzvar changad until thay rs- Archie L2sliz,Young and Paschal
signed. Book2r wers ths first storskaep-

Frank Folt & Pilly Barbsur 3rs of Holly Springs.
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HOLLY SPRINGS SCHOOL CHATTERRNY

THE DOCTOR UTLYFY BEOUSE

Tha Dector Utlay housa,cne of
ths c¢ldast in Felly Springs,is
locatad bstwazn Mr.¥.F.Holt's
and Yir. Frank Cross'. It was
tuilt by two man hirad cy Dr.
Utlay. It is s3id thst he bui-
1t it for his homa but 4id not
live in it very leng. This
houss containzd two storias and
a tagamant. Ths baszment was
built for = kitchan snd dining
roor. Th2z first fl-or nzg ussd
fer living reoms and othar pur-
vos3g,3nd ths badrocms wars on
th2 szcond flocr.

It is s=2id that Br.Utlsv's
wife was very fat with vary
littis fe:zt. Bhe osoksd in the
kitchan,=nd thsn had to g¢ to
first floor to th:z living ro-m,
and to *th:z sscoend to rzach ths
badrems. 8he hsd such w hard
tima climbing sc rany siairs
with guch = big.tcdy and so lit-
t1lz f22t that Dr. Utlisy wovad,

Jz2ssis Tarp,7

Ses
F. G. BERET WK R
for

Groozrizs Faz2ds

Mzats Fish

8tsndsrd,V.C.,
znd
Farmesr's Cotton 011 Co.
Fartiliz=rs,
Soda and Fartilizsr Matsrial

Oystars

e

The houss,n2w ocoupizd by Yrs.
Holloway,is so old thst no one
remsmbsrs whan it wss buils.,

though it is said to hava bezan
teilt by = Mr.Brown. Thz2 btack
Tonm o now usad as 2z kitchen,was
0% used ag a postecffica. Mrs.
P3.nlz Nichols actad as post-

istrasa.,

Foldla D

e —— et o —p e e i o, e L

QUR TOWN DURING THE WAR

Many ysars ago,during ths Civ-
il *=zr,thars were many horribls
thirgs denz in ths south- A
nerthera sarmy undzsr Gsasrsl 3h-
srman dastroyad much property
hera. They l2ft Raleigh;march-
2d through Holly Springs,and
campad a f3w milas southwast of
hars on a tig plantation. Noona
could lsavs ths houss without
thz Yankzss' parrission.

On2 of ths young man of the
plantation,¥r. Cross,~zs8 homa
on s furlough. ¥hen ths Yan-
k228 srrivad,hs was going to sl-
ip back t¢ ths southsrn amy s0
hs wouldn't bzccms a prisonar.
When onz ¢f ths girls want te
g2t soms maat which was at tha
snokzhouss, she saw ths northarn
arey coning. Tha beuy w~ss cau-
ght and ftaken a priscon3r.

It was =nils thzy war3s cn th-
is planiation that Johnsten sur-
randared. Th2 nertharasrs bui-
1t = bonfirs. Thay svan burnszd
3 shck houaz. They were very
happy but net much happisr than
ths southernsars.

sra Johnson,7

TET OLD¥ST BOUSE IN NEEDMORE

Th: oldsst housz in cur com-

runity is s2tting off ths Sun-

31 Laks Road. It is built of
logs. In batwmezn thz logs thsey
hava dobbed it »ith cemnsnt. They
did not have nalls in that tims
tacauss it wvas bullt acout = '
hundrs=d y2ars ago. Thay used

2eg of wood instzad of nails.

"han you g0 in you s22 = big

firsplacs largs snough to stand .
in, Th2 mantlspizce is up high-
3r than yeur hsad. Ths doors
ars largz,high,and homanads.
The windows have shuttzars made
from woed. Thars was one oig
rocm,but now thare ara additicns.
It.is_oansd by a Mr. Jonssyuno
nowy lives in.a.nawly constracihed
tungalow naar the ssms sita.
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Editoer.....
Asst.Fditor....Calvin Holt

vesdV2ra Johnson

The houss in which Coy Baker
new livas is anothar o0f tha
oldsst housss in oub bowri 1y
was formsrly known 2s ths b
ly Mitchsall homs.

Art Tditeri.i..0z21le Enllaran
Pusinzes Mzr...Mildra2d Thomas

Circulation....BHoxsr Cottan
Clzss Tditor...J2ssie Farp
gavartising. i :H2lsn Royal
Margerst Cra2:ch
Baztrics Avant
Billy Rarbeurs
SpOrts. . Grahar "Woecd
Jokzges oo vea2yns Honayeoatt
R3portsrs,.... . Myrtlz Goozdwin

Frank Holt

wray EBerisr

Jehn Draeka

Printargeeva..

Tzachar., e Thzluna Deil
Principal...... 0.7, Tewnsand

w, J,BALLENTINE
Phonss 14J, 14R, 14 W,
fuqu=y Springs,V.C.

Join
STATH RURIAL ASSOCIATION

FALAITHFUL SERVICE FOR 35 YEARS

e

Our town was founded akeout 18
22 vith th2 building of th:z Fsp-

tisy Church and tha A1lf-rd houss.

A fzw hrusss wire Built 2nd la-
t2r privats schocls =nd tesrding
scheols vara stertad. Therz ars
wany old histerie buildings in
tha tewm. )

W23 now hsva modarn convaniane-
28,2 #c2d school,and churchas,

Oncz thars was a3 nagrs »s~van
working fazr = whitz2 lady. She
k2pT getting graspafrult pasling
cut of th: gartags can. s -~ns
Ay “ha lady =skzcd h3r what shs

Gid wivh tham - Shz ssid sha geot
vhes 22lings to wmakes her zarbags

van Loeck suytishy .

wray k.

I R

Brawsr is op3ning =
thz ¢1d bank building

v W13 highway. Fa will appra-

RN, SN, T SRVCY0 T %W, vl 1Yok - W -

R M R o i

Thz Bénnat houss 1s another
of th: old homszs of Hally Spr-
ings. ‘farshall PBsnn:t had
four childran waho want to sch-
ool in thz old acsdamy =t ths
fagonic Todgs Bullding. This
Hous? ig back of tha RBrcoks
homa and is whers Viss Jannie
Bannett, who marriad Marcus Ni-
chrJe and ran iha postcffics,
wzg ralssd. Shs iag ncw marr-
i3d to Delph Niciols and lives
in Fugusy.

Ths house in which Mr. Lonnie

Adams was Lorn is siill baing
usad though by colorsd psopls.
It is lecatad avout a mils oud
of town on th: Apsx road.

Ths hous2 in which th2
live is =noithar old hours
torn. So is ths sicrs LCus=2
naar oV o

Olingrs

S LU
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HONOR ROLL

Sacond Grads
Jaw2ll Byrd Adams
Carclyn Fall
Jasn Hars
¥artha Holt Hars

PERFECT ATTENDANCE

8zcond Crada: Alfrsd Ray,Joan
Hare,larclyn Hall,Martha
Holt Hars,Glsn Farp,Norman
Geodwin,Billy Wonbls,Fran-
ces,Spancs,Malter Laz Wood,
Tow Wood ,Flbart Bakar,

Third Grada B.:™illiam %ilgon,
Grovsr Honaycutt.

Saventh Orads:Orahsm ™ood,Cal-
vin Holt,Baatrice Avant,
Margarst Grsach,Jassie Farp

ars, Johndon,Hzlen Royall,
Billy Barkour,Homer Cotten,
wayn2 Honeyoutt.
Whan askad to maks a sgen-
tenca ,Graham said,” Ths girl's
wifs 4id not intsrrupt ths

e e

SEVESTH GRADE SUPTREATIVES

Prattiast.....Vsrs Johnson
Most Hsndgoms.Homar Cottan
Beat All Arcund.Vsrz Johnson

set All Arognd.Calvin Holt
Megt Popular..Hslen Royal
Mc gt Popular..Frank Holt
Bzst Sport....Jassle Earp
Bsst Sport....Graham Wood
Nzatsst Girl,.Myrtls Goodwin
Yeatsst Roy...Homer Cottan
Mest Courtsous.Jassi3 Earp
Most Courtascus.Wayns Honeyoutt
Yest Intslligsnt.Vara Johnson
KWost Intslligant.Calvin Holt
Jollisst Girl..Hzlsn Royal
Jollisst Boyes.Graham Wood
Moet Athlatid..Margarat Crsach
Most Athlatici.Wkay Barker
wittisst Girl..Mildrsd Thomas
wittiset Boy..,Billy Barbour
Quiatsst Girl..Vzra Johnson
Quistzst Boy...Frank Helt

Mr. ¥red Johnsen was buriad
hare Friday April 8th. The
funsral was conductad by Rev.
Craven at tha Methodist Church.

COMPLIMENTS

of

youzr

A & P

STORES

F 3
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TENTATIVE OUTLINY CF CQIMENCPMEINT ACTIVITIES

APRIL 389 vvvvvnnn.. ECRMET 05Y CXTREISES vt enrerte. o..8:00
APRIL 30.,...RECITATION & OFCLAMLTION CONTFSTeuvev.. .. ..8100
MAY B8 ..., : BACCALAULFLTE SERMON ... v v v vv e .. 2100
by
REV.CARL M, TO™ISEND
MAY 7 veeinenon, ..CLASS DAY EXERCISES vt ie i vnnn ««8:00
SEVANTH GRADE
May 10....... ... .»+CLASE DAY TYTRCISFS .. i vivinrenre . +8:00
SENIOR CLASS
MAY 13..... ... .. GRADUATION FXTRCISES.v.vv v erereserssB:00
SFNIOR CLASS
SFNIOR CLASS OFFICERS SFNIQR CLASS SUPERLATIVES
Vzlzdictorian...Laura Holt Most Popular Girl..Gracs Holt
Salutorian......Deris Eakar Mo st Popular Eoy.Burnis Hgl%%nd
HigtoTian.......F 2 . Prettiest Girl.....Grace Ho
is orian ranc s*Shaw Mest Handseme.,..Burnie Kolland
Tzstorisn.....,.Burnis Belland &%
GiftoTian. . Carl Johnso wittiest.v......Philip Olive
Prophat e arpaset Ten  Neatest.........Maybelle Cooke
“TOPRSE.. ... ooilargarst L3s yoot ptnistic...Margarst Lea
Post....... « «..Jaymis Worris yegt Athletic...Carl Johnson
Mascot........,.Chellyn Hatly Best 411 Around.Doris Raksr
Gradswcthar.....Yrg. Frad Lea Bast All Arcund.Jaymis Norris
FlowsTw.iv v Pansy Billiest........Margaret Les

Cl=ss Colors....Bed and ™hite Bigges? Flirt...Margaretsiea

Motte..No Vietarv ™ithout Ls Mest dignifiad..Francsas aw
o ROueTy Tithout Labor. . oet..........dsTy Wslton

Most Studious...Laura Holt

S?zfigeft......ﬁayballg Co?ka Viogt Courteous..Msybelle Cooke
qic;;;:;;' """ 33§§§§ 32;§:Sn Most Courteous..Burnie Holland
[l =Y ey oe s 190 p F‘ e . Oliva
Trzassursr......Doris Pskar Elggest Dluff Philip

Sississt Boy....Philip Olive

S —

Yiost Original...Burnie Holland
Most ™insome....Eunice Johnson

J. M. STEPEENSON
SFRVICE ST/TION

ACME CLEANING COMPANY
Heavy snd fanecv Grocsriss

We have dong hsd an un-
Gas and 011 parzllalsd rsputation we
U.8, TIRYS and TUBEQ daily guard by uphelding

ths finsst standards of the
cleaning industry. You
will appraciate the sxtra
cars we givs ths garmsnts
you sand us. It costs no
more. Why not give us a

Fuquay-Holly Springs Road

W's are vsry sorry that Yiss trlaé E. BARFFOOT Mgr.,
» » - LN F]

Lail's father is ill., ™e Tu
. .
aope ha is improving. q;ggnspiéngs
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PLAY GIVEN BY COMMUNITY BASTBALL GAME PLAYED
The psaorls of Holly Springs In ths gamz with Relesvills

cogparatad and got up a play our t2am playsd well. In the
callzd Jayvills Junction. Som2 sixth inning our pitchsr gave
of tha laading charactars wars out. Ons of thair boys knockad
th2 Cocdbys Cirls,Mrs.™hite and = c
Mrs. Shaw;Ths Giggling Girls, = home run. Ths final score
Vrs.Le2 and Mrs.Betver;ths Col- was 6-0 in favor of Relssvills.
laga Girls,who wars always tal- Wray Barksr,7th
king at one tims,Savannah Holl- MUSIC RECIBAL GIVEN

and ,Rubells Norris,Th2lmsa John- -
son,Agnas Hollemsn,and Migs2s Ths music rvcital‘was givan
Ragan and Oldham; and tha mothe April 3. Wrs. Bobbit was the
oT and hsr 1littls hoy,Mrs.Msre- dirzctor. Four chorusss w3r3
us Holt end Mr.Dave Ashworth. sung,and 2varyvone tsking music
Mr.pghworth hsd = bottls of playzd a2 pisces Dorothy Marie
milk that he would suck occas~ Gallaghsr esid"h Little Praysr®
ionally snd a stick of eandy to and she did very wall. The
2at. Mr. Roy ¥a3ith was a d2t2c- children taking music in the
tive. Thesz ar: a faw of tha grammar gradss sang two songs.e
charactsrs. Fvaryons snjeysd Everyons snjcyed it very much.
the play vary much. Ha2lsn Royal,7th.

SENIOR PLpY GIVEN

The Sandpor play,"Hs Had A Pastn
BUY was givan Mareh 26« It was about
s tanglad love affair causad by

your thz na2gro maid forgetting to giva
CHEVROLET ths family s telegram from ths
girl thay wers axpscting. Anoth-
from 3r girl,an actrsss,cama. Evsry
thing cams out right whan s Fr-
MITCHELL CHFVROLET COMPANTY anchtan cam2 and tock thz setress
away ~¥ith him. The charactars
WITS

Wa appraciatz your businzss. Uncls Homar Philip Olive

Fuquasy Springs,¥.C. ¥rs. Dodgas.....Eunics Johnson

Phileeeivonnnns -Jayria Norris
4+ Burniz Holland
Hazale..... 0., «Gracs Holt
Vicelat........ «-Francas Shaw
Ballz..ennn., Mary Wglton
. MaXseiinee oo, «.Carl Johnson
Wiss Mabzl Duks,owner at one Orchid.,......... Mayb=21lls Cooks
tizs of ths Bsavsr house,was Miss Foote......Doris Bakar
th: firet psrson in Holly Spr~  ==—==-
iugs to have & parmansants “ Australia's chisf minsral now
————— is coal,although much of it was
Summer vacation is naar. sattlsd for gold .

53



—— e e e ey e

MAN TOOK PICTURES

; A man gsn3 to our schéecol
one day and took picturzas of
8ll the gradss. Tha gtud:nte

».8teps ¢f th: schcol building,
»Ths children than could buy
‘s picturs,

b a e ohe o o Ll At

KELVINATORS
and

GFNFRAL FLFCTRIC
REFRIGFRATNRS

Fasy tarval

PEOCTOR-RARBOAUR CO,

Phons 18

et e ARRIL 1937

STVENTE GRADF CLASS HONORS

Vgladicterian....Vers Johnson
Ealutatorisn..,...Calvin Helt

The e3venth grade class day
zxsrcisas will ba given on May
7 at 8:00, They will b2 in
ta# acts. The namz will bs Tha
Piratsts Trasgsurs.

Mrs, Barbeour,our Zradzmother

-~

PURCELLS BEAUTY SHOP
- £ . »
Permansntss.. ... viodd to ¢4
Shampee and Fingar "ave.$.50
Parsonality Haircud,.,,.$.35
Manicuras...... $.50

L

All patronags will bs apprz-
¢iatzd vary wuch.

Fuquay Sprinze Phone 104

‘heg a naw frigidsirs, Far
homs wzs rzeozntly rzvedalzd,

For

SWIFT'S R¥D STWFR

JOF W, STTPHTNSON

o
Varina,¥.C.

Standard T:sts for a2ll =laman-
tary grsdss wirs given April 20.

2tephan & Douglas was oncz an-
Fav2d toc Abe Lincoln's wifs. Has
lat2r warried a Nerth Carolinisn,

THE OLD BAPTIST CHURCH

Tharz was one: a leg church
nzar whars MYr, Fz2ll livas now.
That w#as many ysars =go. After
a0 long a timz thay dsciddd to
move 1t to Holly Springs. It
was than nesr tha Alford housa.
For a whils my grandfathar was .
ths paster of ths church. Two
y2ars ago it was dis:iantlsd and
mevad to Durham.

hemar Cotten,?
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Official Town Seal, Town of Holly Springs, North Carolina
The official town seal of the Town of Holly Springs is not that old. It was commissioned by the Town Board in
1987 and was created for the Town by a sign maker in Apex. The seal features a ring of holly leaves encircling
a silhouette of the Leslie-Alford-Mims house, one of the most notable landmarks in the Town. The date on the
seal commemorates the founding of the Town in 1876 when Col. George Benton Alford submitted papers of
incorporation to the North Carolina General Assembly. The General Assembly ratified the Town’s Charter a
few weeks later on Jan. 26, 1877, which gives the Town its official and formal birthday.
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